
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 3 June 2019. 
 01476 406080

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 11 June 2019 at 4.00 pm
Shekinah Room - Jubilee Church Life Centre, 1-5 London 

Road, Grantham. NG31 6EY

Cabinet 
Members:

Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council (Chairman)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Housing
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth
Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Hannah Westropp, Cabinet Member for Communications and Engagement

Agenda
1.  Apologies

2.  Minutes of the previous meeting
Minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2019.

(Pages 3 - 8)

3.  Disclosure of Interests (if any)

4.  Street Lighting (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations on the utilisation of 
the Invest to Save Reserve for Energy Efficient LED replacements.

(Pages 9 - 17)

5.  Proposed Statement of Common Ground - Stamford North (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Planning on the Statement of Common Ground 
with Rutland and Lincolnshire County Councils in respect of the proposed 
development at Stamford North.

(Pages 19 - 51)

Cabinet

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


6.  Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees
Report of the Leader of the Council on matters referred to the Cabinet by the 
Council or one of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

(Pages 53 - 60)

7.  Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members
The Cabinet notes that prior to the publication of this agenda, no 
representations or questions had been received from non-Cabinet Members 
since the last meeting of the Cabinet held on 7 March 2019. The Cabinet may 
consider representations from non-Cabinet Members received following 
publication of the agenda for this meeting.

8.  Cabinet Forward Plan
Report of the Leader of the Council on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan from 1 June 
2019 to 31 May 2020.

(Pages 61 - 69)

9.  Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key 
Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
Report of the Leader of the Council on decisions taken by Cabinet Members 
since the last meeting of the Council.

(Pages 71 - 196)

10.  Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent



MINUTES
CABINET
THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY 2019

THE LEADER: Councillor Matthew Lee (Chairman)
THE DEPUTY LEADER: Councillor Kelham Cooke

CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Adam Stokes

NON-CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Bob Sampson
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)
Strategic Director, Resources (Debbie Muddimer)
Strategic Director, Commercial & Operational (Gary Smith)
Assistant Chief Executive, Transformation & Change (Lee Sirdifield)
Assistant Chief Executive, Housing Delivery (Ken Lyon)
Assistant Director, Commercial & Operational (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)
InvestSK (Steve Bowyer)
Head of Governance (Ben Bix)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

CO77. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 17 JANUARY 2019

The minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2019 were agreed as a correct 
record subject to the following corrections:

 The standing reports to Cabinet (LDS337, LDS338, LDS339 and LDS340) 
were presented by the Deputy Leader

3

Agenda Item 2



 The police officer attending the Communities and Wellbeing  Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee was Detective Chief Superintendent Davidson

CO78. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY)

Councillor Dr. Moseley stated that he was a Director of EnvironmentSK, which was 
the subject of some of the recommendations within the Budget Proposals 2019/20 
report.

The Deputy Leader expressed his gratitude to the people who had supported the 
Cabinet team that entered the Rotary Club Swimarathon, which had raised just under 
£1,000. 

CO79. BUDGET PROPOSALS 2019/20 (BUDGET FRAMEWORK - 
RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL)

The Cabinet Member introduced his report on the Budget proposals for 2019/20. In 
doing so he explained that the Council was required to set a balanced budget and 
that the proposals set out in the report were based on a Council Tax increase of £5 
on a Band D property while supporting the Council in meeting its growth ambitions. 
Since the Cabinet had met on 17 January 2019, there had been a public consultation 
exercise on Council Tax proposals, which ran between 21 January and 4 February 
2019.

The Cabinet Member for Finance highlighted the change that had been made to 
accommodate budgetary provision for a Scrutiny Officer since Cabinet had 
considered the draft Budget proposals on 17 January 2019. He informed Cabinet 
Members that, in respect of proposals relating to the use of the Council’s reserves, 
that their levels would still be higher than other local authorities and supported by 
assets that would provide the Council with income in the future. 

Members of the Cabinet were given the opportunity to debate the Budget proposals, 
key points raised in debate included:

 The review of the Council’s committee arrangements to make the Council’s 
decision-making arrangements work in the best way possible, from which the 
recommendation for a Scrutiny Officer had arisen

 The creation of a new website for the Council to replace outdated technology
 Improvements that were being made to IT to enable the organisation to work 

in a modern and agile way
 The intention to continue conducting an annual staff survey and the recent 

launch of the new Employee Handbook
 The Council was able to increase Council Tax by £5 on a Band D property 

because it had a dispensation from Government as it was one of the lowest 
charging authorities in the country

 The work being undertaken by ‘Little Clean’ teams, which were part of the 
legacy of the ‘Big Clean’ initiative 

 Work had been undertaken to align the vehicle replacement schedule so that it 
would have a more event effect on the Budget

4



 If the Council did not increase Council Tax then it would impact on the 
services that it could deliver and its ability to achieve its ambitions

 The preparation of the Budget had included engagement and involvement 
from all parties through the Scrutiny function

 The prices for market stalls had been frozen to assist natural growth and a 
new market was being launched in Market Deeping

 Bus station charges had been frozen
 Investment in visitor economy included a new visitor website and a new 

festival for Bourne; funding for the visitor guide had also been secured for a 
further year

 The Budget included £50k of additional support to help businesses move into 
new premises, which would bring economic benefits in the future

 The Property Investment Policy stated that it was an ambition of the Council to 
continue growing the economy

 The Council had exchanged contracts in the purchase of the Cummins 
Generator site in Stamford on Monday 4 February 2019

 Work was underway on the Council’s Asset Management Strategy to make 
sure the Council was effective managing its assets and achieve the right 
return

 There was a commitment to regenerating all parts of the district, either by the 
Council directly, a private sector partner or one of the Council’s companies

 The new cinema development in Grantham would be an asset both to the 
Council and the town

 The creation of a Technology and Innovation Centre as part of the cinema 
project would bring a higher education offer to the district

 The Budget included £100k additional spend to support the skills agenda
 Proposals in the Budget would enable the development of additional Council 

homes and help resolve housing issues that exist within the district

The Leader recorded his thanks to the Members and officers who put together the 
Budget and highlighted his aim to strive for continual improvement and wanting the 
Council to be seen as organisation that wants to engaged and support people.

It was agreed that the Cabinet RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL:

1. To set a General Fund budget requirement of £14.632m for 2019/20 
detailed at section 3 of this report and shown in detail at Appendix A 
(inclusive of special expenses). 

2. To propose a Council Tax level of £5 for 2019/20 (Band D property) 

3. To note the indicative base estimates for 2020/21 and 2021/22 as detailed 
in the summary at Appendix A.

4. To approve dwelling rent decreases of 1% in accordance with 
Government guideline rent providing an average rent of £77.62 (an 
average rental decrease of £0.81 per a week)

5. To approve an increase in garage rents of 2.5%

5



6. To approve an average increase of 2.5% in service charges for 
communal facilities and communal rooms

7. To approve an increase in shared ownership rents by CPI +1% (4%) 

8. To approve the Housing Revenue Account for the year 2019/20 and 
indicative years 2020/21 and 2021/22 detailed at section 5 of this report 
and shown at Appendix A 

9. Approve the General Fund Capital programme for 2019/20 to 2021/22 
detailed at section 6 of this report and shown at Appendix D 

10. Approve the Capital Financing statement detailed at Appendix D 

11. Approve the Housing Investment programme for 2019/20 to 2021/22 
detailed at section 6 of this report and as shown at Appendix D

12. Approve the Capital Financing statement detailed at Appendix D 

13. To approve the movements in Revenue and Capital reserves and 
balances detailed at section 8 of this report and shown at Appendix E.

14. To approve the movements in HRA revenue and Capital reserves and 
balances detailed at section 8 of this report and shown at Appendix E.

15. To approve the fees and charges detailed at section 4 of this report and 
shown at Appendix F.

16. To approve the Treasury Management Strategy detailed at section 7 of 
this report and provided at Appendix G

17. To approve the Capital Strategy detailed at section 6 of this report and 
provided at Appendix H

18. To approve the Property Investment Policy detailed at section 6 of this 
report and provided at Appendix I

19. That the title of the report is changed from ‘Budget Proposals 2019/20’ to 
‘A district that works for everyone, delivering opportunity’ 

CO80. MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR OVERVIEW 
& SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

The report of the Leader of the Council informed Cabinet Members of any 
recommendations that had been made to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees since it last met on 17 January 2019. 

It was noted that the recommendations of the Budget Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee were reported at the last meeting of the Cabinet, when the draft Budget 
was considered. The Committee’s recommendations were also captured within the 
report of the Cabinet Members for Finance and Housing which gave details of the 
final Budget proposals.

6



The Chairman of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
briefly summarised the matters that it had considered during its meeting on 24 
January 2019, highlighting specifically the feedback from the first ‘Big Conversation’ 
event, an item on scoping sports development activities and the new ‘Discover SK’ 
brochure that had been produced. She also highlighted the forthcoming Deepings 
Literary Festival which would run between the 23 and 26 May 2019.

The Chairman of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
reminded Members that it would next meet on Tuesday 12 February 2019 when 
Detective Chief Superintendent Davidson would speak to the Committee about 
modern day slavery; an invitation had been extended to all members of the Council. 
It was suggested that a representative or representatives of the senior team could 
also attend to help understand the measures and actions the Council could take. He 
added that he was expecting an update on the future of healthcare in Lincolnshire 
within the following two weeks, adding that he would update the Leader when he 
received the information.  

The Chairman of the Rural Overview and Scrutiny gave an overview of items 
considered at its previous meeting including transformation and innovation and the 
introduction of an Armed Forces Discount Card, which was going to be taken 
forward. He also referred to the Bourne Cycle Festival stating that concerns had 
been raised by some rural Members that they had not been consulted on the event, 
which had put them in a difficult position when they had been approached by local 
farmers.

The Chairman of the Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee also emphasised the 
rural nature of the district and how he would like to see initiatives that would benefit 
the rural community. The Leader challenged the statement and listed initiatives that 
the Council had run from which rural communities and benefited. He added that the 
recognition of the rurality of the district had led to the creation of the Rural Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and that the Chairman had a role championing the rural 
community outside of Cabinet. 

CO81. ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON 
KEY AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS.

The Cabinet noted the report of the Leader of the Council which informed Cabinet 
Members of decisions that had been taken by individual Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet was held on 17 January 2019.

 Appendix 1: Grantham, Wyndham Park. Application for Centenary Fields 
status

Designation of Centenary Fields status for Wyndham Park, Grantham would 
ensure that the park was protected as a living remembrance for those who lost 
their lives in the First World War

7



 Appendix 2: Council Tax for long-term empty dwellings

A change in government policy meant that the Council could increase the 
premium for long-term empty dwellings. One non-Cabinet Member asked for 
clarification that the premium would not be applied to properties owned by 
service personnel; the Councillor was advised that the position would be 
clarified and he would be provided with a written response to the question. 

CO82. CABINET FORWARD PLAN

Cabinet Members noted the report of the Leader of the Council appended to which 
was the Cabinet’s Forward Plan. The Forward Plan gave an indication of the items 
that would be presented to Cabinet over the following twelve-month period. The plan 
also included items that were scheduled to be considered at meetings of the Council 
during that period.

CO83.CLOSE OF MEETING
The meeting was closed at 14:42.

DATE DECISIONS EFFECTIVE:

The recommendations made at item CO79 stand referred to Council on 1 March 2019.

8



Cabinet
11 June 2019

Report of: Cllr Moseley

Cabinet Member for Commercial & 
Operations

        

Street Lighting – Utilisation of the Invest to Save 
Reserve for Energy Efficient LED Replacements
The Council owns and manages a significant number of street lights across the district and needs 
to ensure that the provision is delivered in the most cost-effective way for the District Council and 
its residents.  The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been exploring the issue 
over the last 24 months on behalf of the Council and have developed a Street Lighting Policy 
which includes a desire to strive towards greater energy efficiency.  Their proposals were 
previously reported to Cabinet on the 12th July 2018 and, at the time, Cabinet did not feel the 
proposals were sufficiently developed and referred the matter back to the Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for further consideration. 

This report provides an update and proposes the use of the invest to save fund to provide an up-
front investment to jumpstart a 12 year programmed deployment of energy efficient LED lanterns 
across all of South Kesteven District Council’s street lights 

Report Author

Paul Stokes, Corporate Operations Lead

 01476 406410

 p.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Budget and Policy 
Framework

All Wards

Reviewed by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director – Growth 20 May 2019

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director – Commercial & 
Operations 28 May 2019

Signed off by: Cllr Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial & 
Operations 28 May 2019

9

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:p.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk


Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Cabinet is recommended to approve:
1. The allocation of £100,000 from the invest to save reserve to facilitate the 

process of converting General Fund street lights to energy efficient LED as part 
of a 12 year overall programme.

2. The replacement of Housing Revenue street lights to energy efficient LED fully 
funded from the HRA (at a cost of approximately £80,000).

3. The procurement process and award of the contract/s for the works and 
maintenance (at a whole life contract/s cost of approximately £1,100,000), with 
authority delegated to the Cabinet Member for Commercial & Operations.

4. The appended Street Lighting Policy.

10



1. The Background to the Report
1.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee were asked some 18 months ago to 

consider upgrading the street lighting stock to LED (Light-emitting Diode) lanterns.  The 
benefit of this change would be to significantly reduce the carbon footprint of the Council’s 
street lights, reduce energy costs and should also provide a saving on the Council’s 
maintenance contract.  The Council has responsibility for 3593 General Fund street lights 
across the district.

1.2 The current energy budget is approximately £121,000 per annum.  The maintenance 
contract is currently approximately £50,000 per annum and specifically incorporates the 
following for the existing 35 and 36 watt street lights:

 Routine maintenance – the contractor shall replace all lamps like for like (excluding 
LED) cyclically every 3 years and all lanterns shall be cleaned as part of the same 
operation.  The contractor shall also replace lamps when faults are reported within the 
3 year cycle, with additional costs paid for repairs over and above a failing bulb.

 Non-routine maintenance – vandal damage, replacement lanterns, pole brackets and 
columns are additional to the routine maintenance cost (circa £30,000 a year).

1.3 By replacing existing 35 and 36 watt bulbs with LED units the saving per light on energy is 
anticipated to be approximately 65% together with a reduction on the annual maintenance 
cost as a result of the much longer lifespan of LED (circa 15-20 years).  

1.4 There have been multiple briefings, reports and workshops with the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee over the last 24 months, along with a previous report to 
Cabinet on 12th July 2018 which resulted in Cabinet agreeing to note the contents of the 
report and return it to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee for more detail in 
respect of the:

 financial deliverables;
 end date for the refurbishment of all SKDC lighting stock; and 
 arrangements for street lights in conservation areas.

1.6 There are 303 Housing Revenue Account street lights, which are managed separately to 
the General Fund contract; repairs to these lights are currently carried out on an ad-hoc 
repair basis.

2. Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 Subsequent to the 12th July 2018 Cabinet meeting there had been a series of workshops, 

discussion briefings and Overview and Scrutiny Committees meetings whereupon these 
matters and options were discussed.  Officers from Finance & Risk carried out a review of 
the investment options and resulting savings.  As part of this it was recommended that a 
condition survey of the current street lighting stock should be carried out in order to 
substantiate the suitability of the existing lanterns and columns/pole brackets to 
accommodate LED lights.  However, following discussion with Members, it was felt that 
the cost and time delay of the survey were disproportionate and progress could be made 
without this survey. 

11



2.2 Discussion had already taken place about conservation style street lights of which there 
are some 30 in the district.  It was agreed that these will only be provided upon request by 
the Parish Council, who will be required to fund the installation and all initial costs.  
Thereafter, the District Council will take responsibility for on-going maintenance and 
energy costs.  The majority of conservation poles/brackets are expected to be compatible 
with LED lanterns.

3. Available Options Considered
3.1 The preferred option would be to drawdown from the invest to save fund to provide an up-

front investment to jumpstart the General Fund LED street light deployment and enable 
savings to be reinvested to fund the roll-out of LED lights in future years.  

3.2 Other options considered were:

 To continue with the current arrangement of ad-hoc replacement with no additional 
investment.

 Up-front investment of £45,000 which would enable a 13 year programme to replace all 
street lights with around 150 lights upgraded to LED in year 1.

 Up-front investment of £200,000 which would enable a 10 year programme to replace 
all street lights with around 667 lights upgraded to LED in year 1.

 One-off investment of circa £1,100,000 which would enable the replacement of all 
street lights with LED.

 The potential to apply for Salix funding, however, this would require a pay back of the 
full loan amount in 5 years.

4. Preferred Option
4.1 The preferred option is to utilise £100,000 from the invest to save budget to provide an up-

front investment which will release savings for reinvestment in future years and 
complement the recycling of related recurring budgets to speed up the LED roll-out.  This 
provides a balance between the drawdown from the finite invest to save reserve and 
achieves a level of scale of early LED street light replacement which releases savings to 
contribute to the wider programme in future years.  

4.2 This would change around 330 General Fund street lights to LED in year 1 and would 
enable a 12 year programme to replace all street lights.  This option also includes 
reinvestment of the LED energy and maintenance savings as well as the reinvestment of 
up to £35,000 of annual potential and previous budget underspend on street lighting.  The 
invest to save bid is included within appendix A.  Cabinet is asked to note that the 
proposed costs set out in recommendation 2 and 3 are based on best knowledge of 
current supplier costs but the actual cost will not be known until suppliers have provided a 
quotation based on the specification. 

4.3 Whilst there will ultimately be a financial return from this investment, the primary driver is 
to enable the deployment of energy efficient street lights which will reduce the Council’s 
carbon footprint and will enhance the illumination of South Kesteven’s towns and villages.

12



4.4 The contract would be procured with the support of Welland Procurement.  Initial advice 
from Welland Procurement would be that an existing framework is utilised.  The available 
procurement frameworks are largely based upon supply-installation.  A separate 
maintenance contract is not anticipated to necessarily be required or represent value for 
money given the longer life-span of LED lights.  In addition to documentation preparation 
and decision making, the procurement process itself may take up to 12 weeks although 
efforts will be taken to expedite this.

4.5 The existing contract is on an on-going rolling basis, with a 3 month termination clause.  If 
a new contract is awarded for the supply and fitting of LED replacements the full 
deployment will take 12 years.  Therefore there would be a transition process, from the 
existing contractor managing the existing stock and the new contractor managing the 
installation of the new LED lights.

4.6 Additional investment could be made during the programme in order to further accelerate 
the LED roll-out.  This also allows a degree of flexibility and the opportunity to dovetail into 
any ‘internet of things’ success the Council may want to pursue (see paragraphs 12.2-12.4 
below). 

4.7 Update from Cabinet 12th July 2018:

4.8 Appendix B includes the previously proposed Street Lighting Policy which Cabinet is also 
asked to adopt.

5. Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 Following consideration of the options available, the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee indicated their preferred option would be to invest an initial £100,000 from the 
invest to save budget.  This would accelerate the programme of upgrading to energy 
efficient LED lighting across the district to realise both energy and maintenance savings. 

5.2 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s recommendation was for General 
Fund street lights only, however, the Cabinet Member for Environment subsequently 
suggested that Housing Revenue Account lighting should be included in the roll-out of the 
replacement scheme.  This would mean around 260 further street lights would be replaced 
with LED lights in year 1 (43 have already been replaced with LED).  The Cabinet Member 
for Housing is supportive of this.

6. Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 Further consultation with Welland Procurement to move forward with the chosen 

procurement route, utilising the ESPO Framework as a quick, competitive and compliant 
route to market. 

1 Financial Deliverables Ultimately, savings could be in the region of £120,000 per 
year (with savings initially being reinvested). 

2 End date for the refurbishment of all 
SKDC lighting stock

2032, based upon current recommendation.

3 Arrangements for street lights in 
conservation areas

Continue with current arrangements, by request and upon 
funding from Parish Councils for initial installation. 

13



6.2 Engagement with the Communications team to agree the response to enquiries from 
members of the public on the works and given that new LED lights are brighter than 
current lighting.

7. Financial Implications 
7.1 The proposal is to fund the General Fund initial replacement programme from the invest to 

save reserve at a one-off cost of £100,000.  Thereafter the revenue savings generated 
from the lower energy and maintenance costs will be ring-fenced to be reinvested into the 
replacement programme thus providing an annual ongoing investment.  It should be noted 
that the financial modelling of this has assumed stable pricing in energy and maintenance 
costs and does not allow for cost volatility over the replacement period.  Therefore, the 
amount available for reinvestment at the end of each financial year will need to be 
reviewed to determine the amount available for reinvestment.  In the absence of annual 
savings being available then the Invest to Save reserve can be utilised during the period of 
the replacement programme in order to ensure long term energy savings are delivered.  
There is no available budget for the HRA investment proposal as the improvement reserve 
has been committed over the next 3 years.  Therefore, in order to provide the necessary 
investment as set out in the recommendation, it is proposed that the funding will be made 
available from balances resulting from the closure of the HRA 2018/19 accounts.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles

8. Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The provision of street lighting is the responsibility of the highway authority (Lincolnshire 

County Council) in accordance with the Highways Act 1980 (the Act).  South Kesteven 
District Council is a lighting authority for the District.  The District Council has been 
delegated responsibility for street lighting in rural areas.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield

9. Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 It is not anticipated that there will be any specific ‘protected characteristic’ equality or 

safeguarding implications.  However, there could be some improvement in the perception 
of crime and disorder safety from the enhanced illumination.

10. Risk and Mitigation
10.1 Insufficient contractors with capacity to carry out the works in the desired timescale.  

10.2 Assumptions have been made on the number of columns/brackets that are suitable for 
simple LED replacement due to the lack of a recent suitability survey.  

14



11. Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There is no adverse community safety impact and, due to an increase in LED lights which 

provide a higher level of illumination, there could be an increase in the perception of 
community safety. 

12. Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 A full communications plan will need to be prepared to deal with enquiries and potential 

complaints in situations where lights are in close proximity to homes.  LED lights can be 
adapted if causing a nuisance to adjacent properties.

12.2 Separately, SKDC has secured support from Digital Catapult, the leading agency for the 
early adoption of advanced digital technologies, for an ‘internet of things’ trial.  Digital 
Catapult drives the early adoption of digital technologies to make UK businesses more 
competitive and productive to grow the country’s economy.

12.3 SKDC are looking to create a small network of intelligent street lights using some of the 
lights currently owned and maintained by the authority.  This would mean they could be 
enhanced through the installation of sensors and other management capabilities.  The 
installed sensors could monitor street light performance in terms of on/off, power failure 
and illuminated hours.  Additional features which may be possible on some or all of the 
lights include air quality, noise levels and footfall counts.

12.4 Whilst the internet of things trial is not part of the LED replacement programme, if the 
intelligent street light trial is successful, it would be explored whether it is possible to 
combine the deployment of the internet of things sensors with the LED roll-out to achieve 
savings.

13. Background Papers
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3432

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3488

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3489

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3624

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3689

14. Appendices
14.1 Appendix A – Invest to Save Bid

14.2 Appendix B – Street Lighting Policy

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

13 May 2019Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  11 June 2019

15

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3432
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3488
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3489
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3624
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3689


Appendix A: Business Case Application for Invest to Save Funding

Saving IncomeTitle Street Lighting – Utilisation of 
the Invest to Save Reserve for 
Energy Efficient LED 
Replacements 

Saving or 
Income (“x”) X

Total amount required from the 
Invest to Save fund

£100,000 Investment 
Required

Net Saving/ 
Income

Year 1 £100,000 The net annual 
saving will be 
reinvested to 
replace the 
remaining lights 
over the next 12 
years.

Is the investment required capital 
or revenue?

Revenue

Year 2
Year 3Will the resultant savings/ 

income be capital or revenue?
Revenue

Total £100,000 £120,000
Payback period (years) 13 years Recurring saving/income post 

payback?
£78,000 (energy) plus 
£42,000 (maintenance 
contract)

The Proposal
The preferred option would be to utilise £100,000 from the invest to save budget to provide an up-front 
investment which will release savings for reinvestment in future years and complement the recycling of 
related recurring budgets to speed up the LED roll-out.  This would change around 330 General Fund street 
lights to LED in year 1 and would enable a 12 year programme to replace all street lights.  This option also 
includes reinvestment of the LED energy and maintenance savings as well as the reinvestment of up to 
£35,000 of annual potential and previous budget underspend on street lighting.  

Alignment with the Council’s Corporate Strategy
Presents a commercial and innovative approach to the Council’s street lighting assets.

Potential Barriers to be Overcome
Increase in number of lighting columns unable to accept LED lanterns resulting in additional costs.

Risks and how they will be managed (Financial and Other)
Unforeseen increases in electricity prices

Key Milestones and Target Timescales (from approval) 
Milestone Target Period from Approval Date (months)

1. Approval of Cabinet report 11th June 2019
2. Obtain tender for Led replacements 30th November 2019 (5 months)
3. Commence installations April 2020 (10 months)

Proposal submitted by Paul Stokes Directorate Growth

16



Appendix B: Street Lighting Policy

STREET LIGHTING POLICY

June 2019 

Overview

The purpose of this policy is to ensure effective management of South Kesteven District Council’s 
street lighting stock in order that the lighting is:

 Providing illumination when and where required;
 Safe;
 Energy efficient; and
 Well maintained.

Objectives

 Ensure existing lighting stock is maintained in accordance with current electrical regulations 
to ensure it meets legal, health and safety requirements.

 To follow good practice guidance, in order to further reduce risk to council staff, contractors 
and the public.

 To ensure South Kesteven District Council street lights provide illumination during the hours 
of darkness.

Strategy

 To maintain and update a register of street lights including location, purpose, condition and 
lamp type.

 To ensure street lights are properly maintained.
 To replace street lights with more energy efficient units (eg LEDS) when existing lamps 

cease to function and/or when budget becomes available.
 To identify any SKDC street lights which might be considered redundant and consider their 

removal.
 To maintain the council’s portfolio of street lighting via appropriate contract(s).

17



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
11 June 2019

Report of: Councillor Nick Robins

Cabinet Member for Planning

        

Proposed development at Stamford North
Statement of Common Ground with Rutland and Lincolnshire County Councils

Report Author

Roger Ranson, Head of Planning Policy

 01476 406438

 r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Jane McDaid, Assistant Director - Growth 21 May 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director - Growth 29 May 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning 30 May 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that Cabinet considers and approves the attached Statement of 
Common Ground between South Kesteven District Council, Rutland County 
Council and Lincolnshire County Council regarding the planning arrangements to 
be established for the proposed development at Stamford North.

19

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 To help with the preparation of its Local Plan, South Kesteven District Council 

commissioned (in 2015) the Stamford Capacity Study in order to identify potential 
development areas on the edge of the existing settlement.  The study identified land on 
the north side of Stamford as being relatively constraint free, this area of land extends into 
Rutland.  Informal meetings between officers and Members of the two authorities 
subsequently took place. These meetings were in recognition of the importance and 
benefits of joint working and the requirement that local planning authorities should work 
together as part of their Duty to Co-operate (as set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework).  Further, it was recognised that any site coming forward as an urban 
extension covering both local authorities would require masterplanning across its entirety 
in order to ensure a co-ordinated approach.  The agreed way forward was for both 
councils to make joint Local Plan allocations on either side of the local authority boundary. 

1.2 The publication of the Stamford Capacity Study also led to the respective landowners and 
development interests coming together through a Memorandum of Understanding to work 
together to deliver the Stamford North development. 

1.3 The site has been included in the South Kesteven Local Plan which has been submitted to 
the Government and is currently under examination.  It was also included in the Rutland 
Consultative Draft Local Plan 2017 and subsequent public consultation exercises.  The 
Rutland Local Plan is still to be subject to statutory public consultation under Regulation 
19 prior to be submitted to the Secretary of State.  

1.4 The preferred approach, agreed informally between the local authorities, was that the 
Local Plan allocations would be followed by the preparation of a Development Brief, 
initially for consultation. A Development Brief has been prepared collaboratively between 
the landowners and developers of land at Stamford North.  This is being finalised following 
a Design Review Panel meeting to consider this draft masterplan.  The Development Brief 
is intended to come forward for consideration by the respective Cabinets of both Councils 
in the near future with the intention that this would be approved for the purposes of public 
consultation.  Following public consultation, the Development Brief will again be 
considered by both Councils for adoption as a Supplementary Planning Document in line 
with their respective Local Plan timetables.

1.5 A draft document (Appendix 1) has been produced setting out a Statement of Common 
Ground (SoCG) between Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), Rutland County Council 
(RCC) and South Kesteven District Council (SKDC).  The purpose of this SoCG is to 
facilitate co-ordination and co-operation between the three Councils as they seek to jointly 
plan land which sits within two Council areas. 

1.6 This SoCG is not an end in itself, but a means to an end. It is the first step on a journey 
whose end point is the potential delivery of a northern urban extension to Stamford. The 
signatories recognise that this SoCG does not in itself legally oblige or require 
development to be delivered.  In signing this SoCG, the signatory authorities commit to 
achieving the key objectives for the joint planning process to ensure the development is 
brought forward in a collaborative, co-operative and holistic way, that it is phased 
appropriately, and is in accordance with relevant policies of the emerging South Kesteven 
and Rutland Local Plans.  

1.7 The SoCG will require the delivery of:   

20



 high quality new homes across, a range of sizes and tenures, alongside self-build 
opportunities, 

 supporting infrastructure which serves both the existing and the new population,

 sustainable development that considers and mitigates all relevant constraints. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 Statutory consultation was undertaken on the South Kesteven Local Plan prior to its 

submission to the Secretary of State and its subsequent public examination.  Documents 
regarding the Duty to Cooperate including references to the emerging Stamford North 
SoCG accompanied the Local Plan submission and examination.  

2.2 The Local Plan was also considered extensively by the Growth Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee prior to its submission.  

2.3 The Inspector undertaking the Local Plan public examination has requested more detail on 
how the Council has met its Duty to Co-operate in preparing and producing the Local Plan, 
and so it has now been brought forward for formal consideration by Cabinet.  

2.4 This report will be considered at a meeting of the Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on Tuesday 4 June 2019. Any 
recommendations made at that meeting will be captured and reported to Cabinet at its 
meeting on 11 June 2019.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The Council could choose not to approve the Stamford North Statement of Common 

Ground.  This is not recommended as it would have a detrimental impact on the Council’s 
responsibilities under Duty to Co-operate and would inhibit the joint planning of a major 
proposed development in a co-ordinated way between the respective local authorities.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 The preferred option therefore is for Cabinet to consider and approve the proposed 

Statement of Common Ground between South Kesteven District Council, Rutland County 
Council and Lincolnshire County Council regarding the planning arrangements to be 
established for the proposed development at Stamford North.

5 Reasons for the Recommendation(s)
5.1 This would enable the effective joint planning of a major proposed development crossing 

over local authority administrative boundaries.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 The Stamford North SoCG will need to be approved by all three local authorities. 

Following this, arrangements can be put in place to implement the governance structure 
as set out in the SoCG. 

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 Costs incurred in respect of this proposal will be met from approved budgets.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources

21



8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The Council is a legal duty to engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis to 

maximise the effectiveness of its Local Plan in the context of strategic cross boundary 
matters. The duty to cooperate was created in the Localism Act 2011 and amends the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

8.2 The duty to cooperate is not a duty to agree. But local planning authorities should make 
every effort to secure the necessary cooperation on strategic cross boundary matters.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 There are no direct equality and safeguarding implications arising from this report.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 There are no significant risks to the Council arising from this report.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are no significant community safety implications arising from this report.

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None

13 Background Papers
13.1 None

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 - Draft Stamford North Statement of Common Ground

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

13 May 2019

Previously Considered by: Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

4 June 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  11 June 2019

22



Statement of Common Ground between:

South Kesteven District Council 

Rutland County Council

Lincolnshire County Council

Development of Stamford North

23

Appendix 1



This Statement of Common Ground is dated ____day of _________________20___

(1) The parties to this Statement of Common Ground are:

(2) RUTLAND COUNTY COUNCIL of Catmose House, Catmose Street, Oakham, 
Rutland LE15 6HP 
(Authority One)

(3) SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL of Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill, 
Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6PZ 
(Authority Two)

(4) LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL of County Offices, Newland, Lincoln, 
Lincolnshire, LN1 1YL 
(Authority Three)

24



Contents

1. Introduction.........................................................................................................4
2. Context ...............................................................................................................6
3. Project Objectives ............................................................................................12
4. Building the Evidence Base .............................................................................13
5.  Planning Obligations .......................................................................................15
6. Project governance ..........................................................................................16
7. Mitigation of Risks ............................................................................................23
8. Signatories .......................................................................................................24
Appendix A: Information Sharing Agreement (ISA) framework............................27
Appendix B: Sponsors' Board Terms of Reference..............................................28
Appendix C: Contributions ...................................................................................29

25



1. Introduction

1. Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) have a statutory duty to co-operate on strategic 
planning matters1, and this duty is reflected in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF)2 and national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).3 

2. This document comprises a Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) between 
Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), Rutland County Council (RCC) and South 
Kesteven District Council (SKDC).

3. The purpose of this SoCG is to facilitate co-ordination and co-operation between 
the three Councils (Authorities One, Two and Three) as they seek to jointly plan 
land to the north of Stamford extending across both Rutland and South Kesteven’s 
area identified as suitable in the draft local plans for RCC and SKDC (dates to be 
confirmed) for an urban extension. This area is referenced in both Draft Local 
Plans as Stamford North and will be referred to as such throughout this document.

4. Paragraphs 24-27 of the NPPF provide detail of the expectations of local planning 
authorities in terms of the Duty to Co-operate:
“Maintaining effective cooperation 

24. Local planning authorities and county councils (in two-tier areas) are under a duty 
to cooperate with each other, and with other prescribed bodies, on strategic 
matters that cross administrative boundaries. 

25. Strategic policy-making authorities should collaborate to identify the relevant 
strategic matters which they need to address in their plans. They should also 
engage with their local communities and relevant bodies including Local 
Enterprise Partnerships, Local Nature Partnerships, the Marine Management 
Organisation, county councils, infrastructure providers, elected Mayors and 
combined authorities (in cases where Mayors or combined authorities do not have 
plan-making powers). 

26. Effective and on-going joint working between strategic policy-making authorities 
and relevant bodies is integral to the production of a positively prepared and 
justified strategy. In particular, joint working should help to determine where 
additional infrastructure is necessary, and whether development needs that 
cannot be met wholly within a particular plan area could be met elsewhere. 

27. In order to demonstrate effective and on-going joint working, strategic 
policymaking authorities should prepare and maintain one or more statements of 
common ground, documenting the cross-boundary matters being addressed and 
progress in cooperating to address these. These should be produced using the 
approach set out in national planning guidance, and be made publicly available 
throughout the plan-making process to provide transparency”

5. “This SoCG is not an end in itself, but a means to an end. It is the first step on a 
journey whose end point is the delivery of a Stamford North.. The signatories 

1 Section 33A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by Section 110 of the Localism Act 2011); 
available online at http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/part/6/chapter/1/enacted 
2 Available online at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework 
3 Available online at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 

26

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/part/6/chapter/1/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


recognise that this SoCG does not in itself legally oblige or require development 
to be delivered.

6. In signing this SoCG, the signatory authorities commit to achieving the key 
objectives for the joint planning process set out in Chapter 3: Project Objectives 
below.

7. The signatory authorities also acknowledge the current status of the project and 
the work already carried out by landowners, developers and others, set out in 
Chapter 2: Context below, and note that this SoCG is signed without prejudice to 
that work already carried out. 

8. An SoCG approach is needed for the planning of this area because the 
developable land extends across the boundaries of two LPAs- South Kesteven 
and Rutland.

9. LCC is a party to the SoCG alongside RCC and SKDC to ensure a comprehensive, 
strategic perspective on necessary infrastructure required. The inclusion of LCC 
helps ensure that the work is progressed having full regard to the Duty to Co-
Operate.

10. This SoCG cannot override the statutory duties and powers of the three signatory 
authorities and is not enforceable in law. However, the authorities agree to adhere 
to the principles it sets out.

11. As such, the SoCG forms one part of a wider framework of other processes, 
protocols and documents which will between them set out more detail on the 
operational arrangements of the joint planning arrangements.

12. The SoCG has been designed to comprise an implementation-oriented agreement 
with the key aim of enabling the development of a planning framework to ensure 
integrated and co-ordinated delivery of development on either side of the local 
authority boundary.

13. This SoCG sets the basis on which the authorities will collaborate with one another 
on planning and delivering the urban extension. In so doing, it covers:
-The context for the joint planning process;
-The objectives of that process;
-The development of the evidence base underpinning the process;
-The development of co-ordinated planning policy based on that evidence;
-The governance of the planning process, including roles and responsibilities;
-The mitigation of risks within the joint planning process; and
-The implementation of the joint planning process, i.e. the next steps following the 
signing of this SoCG.

27



2. Context

The land to be jointly planned

14. A map of the area within which the joint planning arrangements will apply is set 
out below. It comprises an area of approximately 153 hectares of undeveloped 
land to the north of Stamford, of which approximately 84 hectares is within South 
Kesteven District and approximately 69 hectares in Rutland County. Not all of the 
land will be developed due to a range of constraints set out in more detail in the 
relevant Local Plans and their supporting evidence bases. There is also the 
potential for joint working at locations outside the immediate site boundary of 
Stamford North (as illustrated in Figure1) to be covered by this SoCG insofar as 
that joint working is necessary to support and/or enable development within that 
boundary (for example, necessary infrastructure upgrades).

15. For the two LPAs (RCC and SKDC), planning activities will continue as normal 
across the rest of the Local Planning Authority areas outside the area to be jointly 
planned, through the respective Local Plan processes, based on evidence 
including respective economic growth aspirations and demographic trends. In this 
regard, the joint planning process reflects but does not supersede the ongoing 
requirement for both authorities to allocate sites across their areas to meet overall 
development needs. 

16. In the same way, LCC will also have an important role as an infrastructure planner 
and provider, as well as resolving and mitigating infrastructure delivery issues, 
within the joint planning process, without prejudice to its ongoing infrastructure 
planning and provision across the rest of Lincolnshire.

28



Figure 1: Map of the land at Stamford North subject to joint planning through this SoCG

29



Housing need
17. All authorities agree that the housing that results from the joint planning process, 

even though partly located in Rutland’s area, will meet the housing need of South 
Kesteven District Council, and not that of Rutland. 

18. With regard to affordable housing need, Rutland Council’s Housing Allocation 
Policy normally require a Rutland local connection qualification in order for 
applicants to join the housing waiting list.

19. In this respect, notwithstanding paragraph 15 above, the housing that results from 
the joint planning process will be subject, as normal, to the Rutland section 106 
process, which enables the Council to fulfil its duty to address homelessness 
and/or housing need within Rutland’s borders, including the land to be jointly 
planned. 

20. Although local lettings policies are allowed under certain circumstances, Rutland 
Council advises that in the case of Stamford North, they would not necessarily 
override the overall housing waiting list qualification requirement, which can 
therefore be assumed to operate as usual within the land to be jointly planned.

Preferred planning policy approach

21. A range of options were explored to determine the most appropriate planning 
policy framework to use for the development of Stamford North. It was decided  
jointly by Rutland County Council and South Kesteven District Council that the 
preferred approach is one of joint Local Plan allocations on either side of the 
boundary. This is achievable thanks to the close alignment of the emerging Local 
Plans, which are progressing towards adoption at approximately the same rate.

22. The preferred approach will comprise the preparation of a Development Brief, 
incorporating a consultation stage. The Development Brief will be prepared 
collaboratively between the landowners and developers of land at Stamford North, 
and the three signatories to this SoCG, working as appropriate with statutory 
consultees. Following public consultation, the Development Brief will be jointly 
adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document by SKDC and RCC in line with 
their respective Local Plan timetables.

23. The Development Brief will set out a vision, objectives, policies, and a site 
masterplan. It will also provide detail on the transport and infrastructure delivery, 
timing and funding. The Development Brief will provide a cross boundary strategic 
planning framework under which separate planning applications (accompanied, 
where necessary, by Environmental Impact Assessment) will be submitted to the 
relevant planning authorities and assessed for their conformity with the 
Development Brief.  An indication on potential timing of planning applications 
coming forward for decision will also be included in the Development Brief.

24. Alternative approaches, such as for example a jointly-adopted Area Action Plan 
(AAP) Development Plan Document (DPD) were considered but rejected on the 
grounds of making best use of available resources by taking advantage of the fact 
that the Local Plans on both sides of the border are at similar stages of 
preparation.

Local Plan Background – South Kesteven Context

30



25. South Kesteven’s adopted Local Plan consists of the Core Strategy (adopted July 
2010)4 and the Site Allocations and Policies DPD (adopted April 2014)5, alongside 
saved policies from the 1995 Local Plan6.

26. The emerging new Local Plan7 covers the period 2011 to 2036; a Regulation 18 
consultation was undertaken in 2017 and a Regulation 19 (pre-submission) 
consultation undertaken in 2018. Most (but not all)8 of the land at Stamford North 
that lies within South Kesteven District is allocated for development within it; page 
16 states that: 
‘a major sustainable extension to the north of Stamford is proposed in the Local 
Plan. This will require a comprehensive masterplan for the whole of the site, 
including land at Quarry Farm in Rutland. This is envisaged as a high quality 
development responding to market demands which will have its own distinctive 
character whilst allowing the essential character of Stamford to be preserved. 
Additional allocations for residential development are proposed on brownfield land 
at Stamford East.’

27. Further details of the allocation are provided by draft policy STM1: H1, which 
states that the allocated land has capacity for 1,300 new homes at an approximate 
density of 30 dwellings per hectare. It also notes the following development 
principles:

 A high level masterplan, supported by a detailed development brief and phasing 
plan, is required for the entire site (to include for the land extending into Quarry 
Farm, Rutland with an additional capacity of 650 dwellings).

 The layout of the development should provide appropriate transport infrastructure 
measures to encourage walking, cycling and use of public transport in order to 
maximise opportunities for sustainable modes of transport.

 Safe and convenient highway, footway, cycleway connections shall be provided 
throughout the site connecting it to local schools, community facilities and into the 
wider town. 

 An East-West road to be provided through from Old Great North Road to Ryhall 
Road. This should offer mitigation to the town centre from the traffic generated as 
a result of this development. The development shall accommodate specialist 
housing needs through the provision of retirement housing, extra care or 
residential care housing. 

 The development shall make provision for a new primary school. 

 The development shall make provision for contributions towards the expansion or 
improvement of the adjacent secondary school. 

4 Available online at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=13828&p=0 
5 Available online at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14107&p=0 
6 Available online at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8496
7 Consultative Draft available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=21077&p=0 
8 The parts of the joint development area covered by this SoCG that is within South Kesteven District but is not within the emerging 
Local Plan allocation STM1: H1 comprise Borderville Farm and the new Stamford Town Football Club development to the west 
of the A6121 Ryhall Road and, to the east of the A6121, the land east of the disused Great Northern Railway Essendon branch 
line and west of the River Gwash.

31

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=13828&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14107&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8496
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=21077&p=0


 The development shall make provision for a local centre, to serve the needs of 
both existing and new residents to the area. The local centre should include the 
provision of appropriate social and community facilities. 

 The development should positively respond to green infrastructure opportunities 
and provide sensitive landscaping to the northern edge of the site. 

 Land to the east of the dismantled railway line can be utilised for the provision of 
open space and strategic landscaping only. No development shall take place on 
this land. 

 The development should provide net gains in biodiversity on site and contribute to 
wider ecological networks where possible.

Local Plan Background – Rutland Context

28. Rutland’s adopted Local Plan consists of the Core Strategy (adopted July 2011)9 
and the Site Allocations and Policies DPD (adopted October 2013)10, alongside 
the Minerals Core Strategy and Development Control DPD adopted in October 
201011.

29. The emerging new Local Plan12 extends the plan period to 2036 and a Regulation 
18 consultation was undertaken in 2017. The portion of Stamford North that lies 
within Rutland County is known as Quarry Farm and forms an allocation; page 54 
of the draft Plan states that: 
‘The portion of land within Rutland is known as Quarry Farm. This site will only be 
brought forward for development in conjunction with the land in South Kesteven 
as a comprehensive mixed use scheme which delivers a new road connection 
between Ryhall Road in the east and the Great North Road to the west.’
It continues:
‘A part of the Quarry Farm site is identified as a candidate wildlife site and would 
not normally be considered appropriate for development. However, the wider 
economic and social benefits arising from a comprehensive development in this 
location which delivers this new road connection is considered to outweigh the 
potential impact of development on wildlife in this instance. The candidate status 
of the site is due to the identification of important flora on site. The Leicestershire 
County ecologist service has worked with the County Council to assess the 
potential impact of development on the wildlife interest and how this could be 
mitigated. The development proposal therefore requires the creation of a new 
wildlife site and the translocation of the notable species.’

30. Additionally, a table on Page 50 of the draft Plan confirms that the site will 
contribute to South Kesteven’s, rather than Rutland’s, assessed housing need .

31. Further details of the allocation are provided by draft policy RLP13: Cross 
Boundary Development Opportunity- Stamford North, which states that the Quarry 
Farm site: 

9 Available online at https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/local-plan/
10 Available online at https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/local-plan/
11 Available online at https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/local-plan/
12 Consultation Draft Plan available at https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-
policy/local-plan-review/

32



‘is allocated for development as part of a larger development opportunity 
extending eastwards to the north of Stamford. The majority of this development 
site is allocated in South Kesteven District. The portion of land within Rutland is 
known as Quarry Farm and will only be brought forward for development in 
conjunction with the land in South Kesteven as part of a comprehensive mixed 
use scheme known as Stamford North. 
Development of the Quarry Farm site is expected to include: 

 residential development of approximately 650 homes of an appropriate mix of size 
and tenure; 

 a country park incorporating the appropriate mitigation of potential harm to 
biodiversity and wildlife assets, including the translocation of notable species; 

 a link road facilitating the east / west connection of the Old Great North Road, Little 
Casterton Road and Ryhall Road; 

 appropriate community infrastructure to support the scale of development included 
on the site – either by direct on site provision or as a financial contribution to off-
site provision serving the wider Stamford North development.

Sustainability Appraisal

32. The joint planning process will be underpinned by a robust consideration of growth 
options through the relevant Sustainability Appraisal (SA) processes for the 
emerging South Kesteven and Rutland Local Plans. This will help ensure that the 
joint planning process complies with the relevant provisions of the SEA 
Regulations13.

33. A key element of the SA processes will be the consideration of alternative spatial 
strategies to deliver housing need in each LPA area.  This will help discharge the 
requirement to assess ‘reasonable alternatives’ for each Local Plan14. As such, 
options for Stamford North will be a key consideration in this regard.

34. However, given that Stamford North will contribute only to meeting South 
Kesteven’s housing need, and not to Rutland’s, there is only a need for the SA 
process accompanying the South Kesteven Local Plan to consider options for 
Stamford North as reasonable alternatives. There will not be a requirement for the 
SA for the Rutland Local Plan to explicitly consider these options.

35. As such, appropriate spatial strategy options for Stamford North will be considered 
as reasonable alternatives through the SA for the South Kesteven Local Plan.  
This will incorporate a consideration of alternative options relating to scale, 
location and layout in conjunction with district-wide spatial strategy alternatives.

13 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004
14 The SEA Regulations require that an environmental report is published for consultation alongside the draft plan that 
‘identifies, describes and evaluates’ the likely significant effects of implementing ‘the plan, and reasonable alternatives’.

33



3. Project Objectives

36. The key objective of the joint planning process is to ensure that, by means of the 
Development Brief SPD,  Stamford North is planned in a collaborative, co-
operative and holistic way, phased appropriately, and in accordance with relevant 
policies of the emerging South Kesteven and Rutland Local Plans.

37. This will entail ensuring the appropriate, high quality provision of:

 new homes across a range of sizes and tenures, alongside a small element of 
self-build opportunities, where this is supported by adopted policy and registered 
interest;

 supporting infrastructure, as set out within relevant Draft Local Plan policies, 
serving both the existing and the new population, including but not limited to: 

-routes, including the new link road, bus services and provision for walking and 
cycling;

-local centres to provide community, retail, social and/or neighbourhood 
enterprise scale development where there is a proven need;

-a site for a new primary school;
-potential off-site impact on secondary school(s) that may need expansion(s);
-a sustainable urban drainage system;
-public realm and landscaping; and
-green infrastructure, including open and amenity space, as well as play space.

38. It will also involve appropriate consideration and mitigation of all relevant 
constraints, including but not limited to: 

-surface water flooding;
-ecology and biodiversity; 
-geotechnical issues; 
- the existing movement network across the site, including public footpaths;
- views to and from heritage assets; and 
-landscape and visual impact.

39. A secondary objective of the project is for the joint planning process, of which this 
SoCG is the first step, to contribute towards fulfilling the Duty to Co-Operate for 
both local planning authorities, a necessary requirement if both of their emerging 
Local Plans are to be found sound at examination.

40. A crucial mechanism by which the signatory authorities will seek to deliver the key 
project objectives above is through ensuring the co-ordinated delivery of 
infrastructure. The Development Brief SPD will incorporate a site-specific 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan setting out the timing and phasing of the main 
elements of site infrastructure.   The Development Brief will set out a vision, 
objectives, policies, and a site masterplan. It will also provide detail on the 
transport and infrastructure delivery, timing and funding. The Development Brief 

34



will provide a cross boundary strategic planning framework under which separate 
planning applications (accompanied, where necessary, by Environmental Impact 
Assessment) will be submitted to the relevant planning authorities and assessed 
for their conformity with the Development Brief.  An indication on potential timing 
of planning applications coming forward for decision will also be included in the 
Development Brief.

35



4. Building the Evidence Base

Infrastructure evidence

41. In preparing the Stamford North Development Brief, the SoCG signatories and site 
developers will gather and/or review relevant evidence on infrastructure need to 
inform the site-specific Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Site landowners and 
developers have been liaising with key service providers in recent months in this 
respect.

42. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan will aim to provide certainty to the local 
community, developers and other relevant parties and will  reflect the strategic 
focus on delivery and implementation required for the site to be developed in a 
sustainable way.

43. The signatory authorities note that developers and landowners across the site 
have already started joint working of their own. They have signed a developer-
side SoCG, have prepared a high-level masterplan, and are investigating likely 
capacity, layout and infrastructure needs. 

44. Progress on this front is welcomed by the signatory authorities and, and relevant 
developer-side outputs will be taken into account alongside the evidence 
developed by the Councils. The signatory Councils seek a positive, productive 
relationship with site landowners and developers; it is considered that this will help 
improve the soundness and accuracy of development and infrastructure delivery 
assumptions.

45.  A key overarching principle for the approach to infrastructure in the Development 
Brief will be the promotion of sustainable development patterns. 

46. This is likely to include, for example, two local centres- one in the east and one in 
the west  of the site. The range of uses at each centre, as well as its scale, will be 
determined through the preparation of the Development Brief. 

47. The phasing of infrastructure will be tied closely and logically to the phasing of 
housing development to minimise the impact of the development on the local 
community. The role of infrastructure as necessary mitigation of the impacts of 
development will also be considered carefully through the delivery strategy.

36



Viability evidence

48. The Development Brief and its Infrastructure Delivery Plan will determine the 
high-level costs associated with the delivery of development at Stamford North 
and, taking into account viability, determine the Planning Obligations Strategy for 
the site. 

Publication of the evidence base
49. The evidence base gathered to support the joint planning process, with the 

obvious exception of market-sensitive data, will be published by the authorities in 
full online and used as appropriate to inform the wider approach to planning and 
infrastructure within Rutland, South Kesteven and Lincolnshire.

37



5.  Planning Obligations

50. As previously stated, the authorities, site landowners and developers will guide 
the detailed development of the site through a joint Development Brief SPD. and 
its accompanying Planning Obligations Strategy.

51. The Planning Obligations Strategy will address in full the complexity of delivery 
across the site in terms of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 
(s106) contributions.

52. CIL applies to development on the Rutland side of the border but not to 
development on the South Kesteven side. However, it is permissible for the CIL 
charged in Rutland to be spent on supporting infrastructure within South Kesteven 
District, in accordance with Rutland’s CIL Charging Schedule.

53. Section 106 contributions may be charged on both sides of the border but such 
contributions are subject to restrictions on the South Kesteven side, where no 
more than five separate planning obligations for a project or type of infrastructure 
can be pooled.

54. The Planning Obligations Strategy will determine, based on the detailed, site-
specific viability evidence, as well as regulations applying at the time, the most 
appropriate approach to developer contributions to ensure housing is able to fund 
supporting infrastructure while still providing a competitive return to landowners 
and developers. Importantly, it will also seek an equitable approach across the site 
so that developers on any one side of the border are not placed at a relative 
disadvantage to those on the other.

55. Recently, a number of local authorities in England have benefitted from local 
‘planning freedoms’, including the loosening of pooling restrictions on s106 as part 
of a delivery ‘deal’ with central government. This permits the introduction of CIL-
style mechanisms, such as local infrastructure tariffs, to pay for infrastructure 
through developer contributions. Within the joint planning process, SKDC and LCC 
will explore the potential for such a mechanism to be applied on the South 
Kesteven side of the boundary. 

56. At the time of SoCG signing, there were signs the government was considering a 
universal loosening of pooling restrictions. Should such loosening take place over 
the lifetime of this SoCG, the signatory authorities agree to explore the resulting 
opportunities that arise for the site.

57. The signatory authorities commit to an equitable, co-ordinated and transparent 
approach to CIL and s106 contributions. Planning obligations on either side of the 
border will be monitored through a single joint process. This will help ensure 
necessary supporting infrastructure, wherever provided, is phased in line with the 
infrastructure delivery strategy, and will minimise the risk of ‘double dipping’ (i.e. 
developers being charged twice for the same development).

58. In return for an equitable, co-ordinated and transparent approach to planning 
obligations, the authorities will expect from developers an ‘open book’ approach 
to viability where this is necessary in order to achieve agreed project objectives.  
The LPA local plan policies have been subject to subject to Whole Plan Viability 
assessment which has revealed that the policy requirements of each plan are 
viable and will therefore be expected to be deliverable on this site unless they can 

38



demonstrate exceptional circumstances in accordance with paragraph 57 of 
NPPF. 

39



6. Project governance
Introduction

59. This SoCG commits the strategic planning and democratic resources of all 
Councils to work together in the joint planning process. This chapter sets out the 
key governance principles and arrangements that will be required to achieve this.

60. The Councils confirm, through signing of this Statement of Common Ground, that 
they consider this approach to be consistent with the NPPF and the PPG under 
the duty to co-operate on plan making, without prejudice to subsequent individual 
planning decisions.

Project Management

61. Each authority will provide a senior policy officer as part of its resource 
commitment.

62. A Project Plan will be jointly agreed for the work showing key work stages and 
timetable in terms of aligning and co-ordinating policy and evidence outputs, 
including consultation on that policy and evidence, across local authority 
boundaries. For further details of the Project Plan, see below.

63. South Kesteven District Council will maintain details of the agreed budget and 
spend and will maintain a risk log identifying potential threats to the joint planning 
process and, where appropriate, any mitigating actions. If any risks are considered 
significant, these will be reported through each Council’s risk management 
programmes and appropriate solutions to manage the risk will be put in place.

64. A change control process will be used to assess proposed changes to policy or 
evidence outputs or changes to the agreed joint working arrangements.

Principles of governance

65. The signatory authorities agree the following principles of governance when 
carrying out joint planning. The joint planning should:
(a) provide strategic oversight and direction;
(b) be based on clearly defined roles and responsibilities at organisation, group 
and, where necessary, individual level;
(c) align decision-making authority with the criticality of the decisions required;
(d) be aligned with the overall scope and each stage of the joint planning process 
(and may therefore require changes over time);
(e) leverage existing organisational, group and individual joint working 
arrangements;
(f) provide coherent, timely and efficient decision-making; and
(g) correspond with the key features of the governance arrangements set out in 
this SoCG.

40



Principles of co-operation

66. The signatory authorities further agree to adopt the following principles of co-
operation when carrying out joint planning:
a) collaborate and co-operate. Establish and adhere to the governance structure 
set out in this SoCG to ensure that activities are delivered and actions taken as 
required;
(b) be accountable. Take on, manage and account to each other for performance 
of the respective roles and responsibilities set out in this SoCG;
(c) be open. Communicate openly about major concerns, issues or opportunities 
relating to the joint planning process;
(d) learn, develop and seek to achieve full potential. Share information, 
experience, materials and skills to learn from each other and develop effective 
working practices, work collaboratively to identify solutions, eliminate duplication 
of effort, mitigate risk and reduce cost;
(e) adopt a positive outlook. Behave in a positive, proactive manner;
(f) adhere to statutory requirements and best practice. Comply with applicable 
laws and standards including EU or relevant procurement rules, data protection 
and Freedom of Information legislation. In particular the parties agree to comply 
with the requirements of the Information Sharing Agreement (Appendix A);
(g) act in a timely manner. Recognise the time-critical nature of the joint planning 
process and respond accordingly to requests for support;
(h) manage stakeholders effectively;
(i) deploy appropriate resources. Ensure sufficient and appropriately qualified 
resources are available and authorised to fulfil the responsibilities set out in this 
SoCG; and
(j) act in good faith to support achievement of the key objectives set out in Chapter 
7 below and compliance with these principles of co-operation.

Roles, responsibilities and powers

67. A bipartite structure of a Sponsors’ Board and a Project Board is proposed for the 
purposes of the joint planning exercise. Such a structure will retain democratic 
accountability for the work and fit naturally with the division of all three authorities 
into a technical executive and an elected legislature.

68. The signatory authorities will continue to work together on strategic issues other 
than the joint planning process that is the subject of this SoCG in accordance with 
the Duty to Co-Operate and will establish the appropriate arrangements to do so 
separate from and without prejudice to this SoCG.

41



Sponsors’ Board

69. A Sponsors’ Board will be established to give the joint planning process strategic 
oversight and direction by setting out clearly, by means of an overall Project Plan, 
the outputs expected from it.

70. The Sponsors’ Board will consist of:
Authority One: The Cabinet member and Director for Growth, Planning and 
Regeneration (or equivalents) or their representatives
Authority Two: The Cabinet member and Director for Growth, Planning and 
Regeneration (or equivalents) or their representatives
Authority Three: The Cabinet member and Director for Growth, Planning and 
Regeneration (or equivalents) or their representatives

71. The overall Project Plan should be developed by the Project Board and approved 
by the Sponsors’ Board within a reasonable time frame from the date of the signing 
and publication of the SoCG. It will be a ‘live’ document, to be updated as 
appropriate from time to time as the joint planning work progresses. The Project 
Plan will identify:
(a) key delivery milestones relating to project objectives against an agreed 
timeframe;
(b) expectations of project teams and/or employees (other than those identified 
in this SoCG);
(c) any secondment arrangements between signatory authorities, if appropriate; 
and
(d) practical working arrangements, for example which staff will require access to 
the premises of the other authority(ies).

Project Board

72. A Project Board will be established, consisting of officers within relevant technical 
specialisms from all three authorities. The role of the Board will be to execute the 
Project Plan by: 
-preparing, integrating and publishing appropriate evidence base, technical and 
policy documents; 
-managing all communication, consultation and engagement processes; 
-carrying out any other tasks required by the Project Plan to manage and co-
ordinate the planning and development of Stamford North; 
-updating this SoCG as appropriate over the period of joint planning; and
-reporting progress against Project Plan milestones on a regular basis to the 
Sponsors’ Board.

42



73. The Project Board will consist of:
Authority One: Head of Planning Policy, Head of Development Management, 
Head of Communications and Head of Legal Services (or their equivalents) or their 
representatives 
Authority Two: Head of Planning Policy, Head of Development Management, 
Head of Communications and Head of Legal Services (or their equivalents) or their 
representatives 
Authority Three: Head of Planning Policy, Head of Development Management, 
Head of Communications and Head of Legal Services (or their equivalents) or their 
representatives 

74. The position of Lead Project Manager will be filled by Head of Planning Policy, 
South Kesteven District  Council.he Project Board will meet regularly and will from 
time to time include representatives of any other organisations with related interest 
in the joint planning process, which might, for example, include relevant statutory 
or non-statutory consultees as set out in the PPG.15

External reporting and publication

75. External reporting and publication will take place as follows:

-Minutes, attendees and actions will be recorded for each Project Board meeting.   
Any additional reporting requirement will be at the discretion of the Project Board. 
Minutes, attendees and actions will be made publically available on at least one 
of the Authority websites, potentially through a micro-site hosted by South 
Kesteven District Council.
-Minutes, attendees and actions will be recorded for each Sponsors’ Board 
meeting, based on the outputs of the Project Board reporting as appropriate in 
terms of progress, issues, escalations and future plans. Minutes, attendees and 
actions will be made publically available on at least one of the Authority websites.
-Draft technical and/or evidence outputs16 will be submitted by the Project Board 
to the Sponsors’ Board. Once endorsed by the Sponsors’ Board, outputs will then 
be circulated to the three authorities’ Planning Committees before publication.
- Draft policy outputs17 will be submitted by the Project Board to the Sponsors’ 
Board. Once endorsed by the Sponsors’ Board, outputs will then be approved by 
the three authorities’ Planning Committees before publication.

15 List of statutory and non-statutory consultees for planning applications available at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-
and-pre-decision-matters#Statutory-consultees-on-applications
16 These may comprise either technical and/or evidence outputs specific to the area being jointly planned, or relevant chapters/sections of 
technical and/or evidence outputs supporting the whole of the emerging South Kesteven and/or Rutland Local Plan(s).
17 These may comprise either policy outputs specific to the area being jointly planned, or relevant chapters/sections of Development Plan 
Documents and/or other policy documents.

43

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters#Statutory-consultees-on-applications
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters#Statutory-consultees-on-applications


Communication

76. All authorities will commit to issuing joint press releases and attending joint press 
conferences, where appropriate, to ensure communities are updated. All 
authorities will provide information about the proposals on their websites.

77. A communication strategy will be put in place to ensure that both RCC and SKDC 
carry out the same level of consultation.

Escalation

78. If any of the authorities have any issues, concerns or complaints about the Project, 
or any matter in this SoCG, that authority shall notify the other authorities and the 
authorities should then seek to resolve the issue by a structured communication. 
If the issue cannot be resolved within a reasonable period of time, the matter shall 
be escalated to the Project Board, which should decide on the appropriate course 
of action to take. If the matter cannot be resolved by the Project Board within five 
days, the matter may be escalated to the Sponsors' Board for resolution.

79. If any authority receives any formal inquiry, complaint, claim or threat of action 
from a third party (including, but not limited to, claims made by a supplier or 
requests for information made under the Freedom of Information Act 2000) in 
relation to the joint planning process, the matter shall be promptly referred to the 
Project Board (or its nominated representatives). No action shall be taken in 
response to any such inquiry, complaint, claim or action, to the extent that such 
response would adversely affect the joint planning process, without the prior 
approval of the Project Board (or its nominated representatives).

Intellectual property

80. The signatory authorities intend that [notwithstanding any working arrangements 
such as, but not limited to, secondment(s)] any intellectual property rights created 
in the course of the joint planning process shall vest in the party whose employee 
created them (or in the case of any intellectual property rights created jointly by 
employees of two or more authorities, in the authority that has been agreed as 
lead authority for the part of the project to which the intellectual property right 
relates).

81. Where any intellectual property right vests in any authority in accordance with the 
intention set out in the previous paragraph, that party shall grant an irrevocable 
licence to the other authorities to use that intellectual property for the purposes of 
the Project.

Term and Termination

82. This SoCG will commence on the date of signature by all authorities, and shall 
expire on the adoption of the last policy output arising from the joint planning 

44



process, or on the full resolution of issues arising from s106 or CIL obligations that 
require a joint approach, whichever occurs later.

83. This SoCG will be effective for 36 months commencing from the date on which it 
was signed by the Chief executive and Leaders of the three authorities. Its 
operation will be reviewed at the end of the first 6months in order to inform any 
changes necessary for further joint working.

84. Any authority may terminate this SoCG by giving at least three months' notice in 
writing to the other authorities.

85. Any termination of the SoCG shall be considered to have no impact, statutory or 
otherwise, on the ‘active and sustained engagement’ required by the Secretary of 
State in terms of the on-going statutory Duty to Co-Operate among all signatories.

Variation

86. This SoCG, including the Appendices, may require updating on one or more 
occasions. It may only be varied by written agreement of the Sponsor's Board.

Charges and Liabilities

87. Except as otherwise provided, the authorities will each bear their own costs and 
expenses incurred in complying with their obligations under this SoCG.

88. The authorities agree to share the costs and expenses arising in respect of the 
joint planning process between them in accordance with the Contributions 
Strategy set out in Appendix C to this SoCG, to be developed by the Project Board 
and approved by the Sponsors' Board.

89. Each signatory authority shall remain liable for any losses or liabilities incurred due 
to their own or their employee's actions and no authority intends that the other 
authorities will be liable for any loss it suffers as a result of this SoCG.

Status

90. This SoCG is not intended to be legally binding, and no legal obligations or legal 
rights shall arise between the authorities from this SoCG. The authorities enter 
into the SoCG in a spirit of good will, intending to honour all their obligations.

Nothing in this SoCG is intended to, or shall be deemed to, establish any partnership 
or joint venture between the authorities, constitute any authority as the agent of any 
other authority, nor authorise any of the authorities to make or enter into any 
commitments for or on behalf of the other authorities.
Governing Law and Jurisdiction

91. This SoCG shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law 
and, without affecting the escalation procedure set out in paragraphs 78 to 79, all 
authorities agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England 
and Wales. 

45



7. Mitigation of Risks
92. There are potential risks associated with joint planning of a strategic-scale 

development site across local authority boundaries. It is therefore appropriate for 
this SoCG to set out how these risks might be mitigated.

93. For each identified project risk, the table below explores the implications of that 
risk and the potential for it to be mitigated.

Risk Implications Mitigation
Change in attitude to joint working 
at any authority because of 
changes in political make up, 
changes in priority or conflicts in 
working relationships at Officer
or Member level.

Delays in decision making and 
revisiting of decisions taken. 

The agreement of the SOCG 
and of an opt-out clause 
following  consultation 
feedback should mitigate 
this risk

Failure to agree a joint approach 
on key aspect(s) of the process

Delays while options are debated,
potential breakdown in 
relationships, potential failure of 
joint approach with consequent 
implications for future working; 
Potential resource implications of 
abortive work

Respective Portfolio Holders 
and/or Project Managers to 
take the lead in resolving 
such issues.

Failure of any authority to meet 
the commitments set out in the 
MOU.

Delays while issues are resolved, 
additional resource/funding 
needing to be provided by the 
other authority(ies), potential 
breakdown of relationship 
between authorities

Respective Portfolio Holders 
and/or Cabinet Members to 
take the lead in resolving 
such issues.

Different approval processes 
could delay decision making at 
key stages

Delays in progressing to the next 
stage of work, authorities get out 
of step. 

Careful planning and 
identification of key pinch 
points will identify potential 
problem areas.

The existence of a signed 
SOCG should help mitigate 
this risk.

Adverse public reaction to a joint 
planning process.

Adverse public reaction could 
affect the willingness of one or 
more authorities to continue with 
the joint planning process

The agreement of the 
SOCG, setting out details of 
the objectives and 
governance of the joint 
planning process, in a 
transparent way, should help 
mitigate this risk.

Strategic-scale development 
can be contentious, 
irrespective of location; 
briefing key local 
stakeholders and agreeing a 
consistent communications 
strategy should help mitigate 
this risk.

46



8. Signatories

Signed for and on behalf of Authority One: Rutland County Council

Name:

Position:

Signature: 

Signed for and on behalf of Authority Two: South Kesteven District Council

Name:

Position:

Signature: 

Signed for and on behalf of Authority One: Lincolnshire County Council

Name:

Position:

Signature: 

CONTACT POINTS:

RUTLAND

Name: 

Position: 

Office address: 

Tel No: 

E-mail Address:

SOUTH KESTEVEN

Name: 

Position: 

47



Office address: 

Tel No: 

E-mail Address:

LINCOLNSHIRE

Name: 

Position: 

Office address: 

Tel No: 

E-mail Address:

48



Appendices

49



Appendix A: Information Sharing Agreement (ISA) 
framework

The purpose of this ISA is to facilitate the exchange of information in order to comply 
with the statutory duty of local authorities to work together.

The parties to this SoCG are not obligated to disclose information unless satisfied that 
the principles of data protection are upheld. Disclosure relies on existing conditions 
that justify the disclosure of information, on good relations and mutual trust, and the 
effectiveness of these information sharing arrangements is a reflection of the 
effectiveness of the project as a whole.

Relevant statutes may provide the power to disclose information, but may not impose 
a duty to disclose, thus control over the disclosure of information remains with the 
Authority that owns the information.

The parties undertake to ensure that personal information (as defined by the Data 
Protection Act 1998) held by them will be properly protected.

Parties

The parties in this information sharing agreement are:

a) Lincolnshire County Council
b) Rutland County Council
c) South Kesteven District Council

Indemnity

Where a disclosing party provides information to a requesting party which is inaccurate 
or where such information is disclosed in breach of the Data Protection Act 1998, any 
other statutory or common law requirements or the terms of this protocol, and the 
requesting agency incurs liability, cost or expense as a result of its reliance upon the 
information provided, the disclosing agency shall indemnify the requesting agency 
against any such liability, cost or expense reasonably incurred, provided that this 
indemnity shall not apply:

a) Where the disclosing agency did not know, and acting reasonably, had no reason 
to know, that the information provided was inaccurate;

b) In respect of any consequential or other indirect loss, damage, liability, cost or 
expense incurred

c) unless the requesting agency notifies the disclosing agency as soon as practicable 
of any action, claim or demand to which it considers this indemnity may apply, permits 
the disclosing agency to deal with the action, claim or demand by settlement or 
otherwise and renders all reasonable assistance in so doing.

50



Appendix B: Sponsors' Board Terms of Reference

Remit:

 Approval of Project Plan

 Approval of variation to the SoCG

 Review and Approval of all policy and evidence outputs
Decision-making:

Authority One: The Cabinet member and Director for Growth, Planning and 
Regeneration (or equivalents) or their representatives
Authority Two: The Cabinet member and Director for Growth, Planning and 
Regeneration (or equivalents) or their representatives
Authority Three: The Cabinet member and Director for Growth, Planning and 
Regeneration (or equivalents) or their representatives

Meetings:

At a frequency and form mutually agreed and convenient for the parties to the
SoCG.

51



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
11 June 2019

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

        

Matters referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees
This report highlights any matters referred to the Cabinet by Council or by the Council’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 7 March 2019, as set out in 
Appendix 1.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support 
Assistant 29 May 2019

Approved by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change 29 May 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 31 May 2019

Recommendation to the decision maker 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report and the 
matters referred to in Appendix 1.

53

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
Council

1.1 No matters have been referred to Cabinet by Council since Cabinet’s last meeting on 7 
March 2019.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees
1.2 The Council operates Executive decision-making arrangements as set out in the Local 

Government Act 2000, which means it is required to have at least one scrutiny committee 
in place. The Council currently has four Overview and Scrutiny Committees, which 
changed at the Annual Council meeting held on 23 May 2019. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees meet regularly, and may hold additional meetings as necessary, to discuss 
items within their remit.

1.3 Any recommendations made, or an overview of the topics discussed, by the Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the last meeting of the Cabinet are contained in 
Appendix 1. This report highlights those issues raised at Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meetings during the previous term. 

1.4 At the time of the publication of the agenda none of the new Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees had met. Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee has met after the 
publication of this Cabinet agenda, any outstanding recommendations to the Cabinet will 
be provided in an addendum to the Cabinet meeting if the matter relates to an item on the 
Cabinet’s agenda, or a synopsis provided with the agenda for the next Cabinet meeting.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

were considered.

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 Where an item has been considered as part of pre-decision scrutiny, the 

recommendations of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee will either be captured 
within the Cabinet report, or, where the time does not permit, as part of a verbal update 
made during the Cabinet meeting. 

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 This report offers the Cabinet an opportunity to consider matters that have been raised by 

other Members at meetings of the Council and Committees that operate within the 
Executive function of the Council.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising from this report.

7 Risk and Mitigation

54



7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were identified in 
its production.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

9 Background Papers
9.1 There are no background papers to this report.

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Matters referred from Council (Part A) and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees (Part B)

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 7 March 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not required

55



This page is intentionally left blank



MATTERS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL AND 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

PART A: MATTERS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL

There are no matters referred by the Council to the Cabinet on this occasion.

PART B: MATTERS REFERRED FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES

COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There are no matters referred by the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to Cabinet on this occasion. 

CULTURE AND VISITOR ECONOMY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meeting: 14 March 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Linda Wootten 

Sports and Physical Activity Development Officer – Programme priorities

Considerations:

 Sport would be a key focus of the Council’s emerging Cultural Strategy
 Meetings would be held across the district to engage with groups and individuals 

outside of formal sports clubs and organisations
 The relationship between sport and mental wellbeing

Recommendations:

 No recommendations were made and members noted the priorities listed in the 
report

Link to relevant papers:

 Report of the Leader of the Council on the Sports Development Officer – 
Programme priorities 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22505/COMPANY%20RE
PORT%20ISK0013%20ARTS%20CULTURE%20MARCH%202019.pdf 

Cultural Conversation engagement programme update

57

Appendix 1

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22505/COMPANY%20REPORT%20ISK0013%20ARTS%20CULTURE%20MARCH%202019.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22505/COMPANY%20REPORT%20ISK0013%20ARTS%20CULTURE%20MARCH%202019.pdf


Considerations:

 The Cultural Conversation online questionnaire, which was open until 31 May 
2019

 The initial Stakeholder/Strategic Partner meetings on the cultural conversation 
engagement programme, which had been well-received

 Short school workshops that had been arranged
 A target list of groups had been compiled with potential visits planned to discuss 

the cultural strategy
 The ‘Celebrating our high street’ event held on 16 March 2019
 The rate of ticket sales for the Deepings Literary Festival

Outcomes:

 Diary dates in relation to the Cultural Conversation to be circulated to members 
(i.e. workshops, concerts)

Recommendations:

Link to relevant papers: 

 Cultural Conversation engagement programme update
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22508/COMPANY%20RE
PORT%20ISK0014%20ARTS%20CULTURE%20MARCH%202019.pdf 

ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meeting: 12 March 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Mike Exton 

National Waste Strategy – upcoming consultations

Considerations:

 Consultations had been released in respect of four main areas of the National 
Waste Strategy:

o Reform of the extended producer responsibility scheme
o Greater consistency of waste recycling
o Deposit return schemes
o Plastic packaging tax

 The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership was collating responses to the individual 
district councils

Outcomes:

 That officers respond to the consultations, priority to be given to the consistency 
of waste recycling, responses to be circulated to Members of the Committee

Link to relevant papers:

58

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22508/COMPANY%20REPORT%20ISK0014%20ARTS%20CULTURE%20MARCH%202019.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22508/COMPANY%20REPORT%20ISK0014%20ARTS%20CULTURE%20MARCH%202019.pdf


 National Waste Strategy Key Milestones
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22437/Key%20Milestone%
20sheet.pdf 

Street lighting

Considerations:

 Slides shared with members of the Committee at the meeting, which contained 
information that was commercially sensitive

 The current arrangements both for the General Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account contracts

 Arrangements for the replacement of street lights in respect of both the HRA and 
the General Fund

 Options for LED replacement over a number of years, which gave members an 
indication of different levels of investment and timescales

 Dimming of lights and automatic fault reporting had not been included in the 
model costings

 Funding options for work on street lights, including ongoing funding and whether 
there would be the opportunity to use the invest to save reserve

 Modelling assumed continued investment and replacement over future years

Recommendations:

 That option 3 as presented in the exempt presentation was the Committee’s 
preferred option to be taken forward by the Cabinet Member for Environment

Textile collection

Considerations:

 Enquiries had been made independently of the Committee about the siting of a 
textile recycling bank in Market Deeping

 The Salvation Army would deliver, manage and maintain the bank at no cost
 Contents were sorted and either sent to third-word countries or re-sold
 Two supermarkets in Grantham provided a textile bank facility and included 

dedicated space for customers making deposits

Outcomes:

 That textile banks be included on the future work programme for the Committee 
– research on possible sites was required

GROWTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There are no matters referred by the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 
Cabinet on this occasion.

RURAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

59

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22437/Key%20Milestone%20sheet.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22437/Key%20Milestone%20sheet.pdf


There are no matters referred by the Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee to Cabinet 
on this occasion. 

60



Cabinet
11 June 2019

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

        

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 June 2019 to 31 
May 2020
This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan for the period 1 June 2019 to 31 May 
2020.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support 
Assistant 29 March 2019

Approved by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change 29 May 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 31 May 2019

Recommendation to the decision maker

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report.

61

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 sets out minimum requirements for publicity in connection 
with key decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 
publication of its Forward Plan on the Council’s website.

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to 
Council or review the contents and take any necessary actions. Whilst it is not a 
requirement to publish this information in the Forward Plan, it is the Council’s practice to 
do so.

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items for 
consideration have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward Plan (attached as Appendix 1 
to this report). The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the 
Council meetings due to be held within the plan period. 

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

have been considered. 

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 The Forward Plan is published each month on the Council’s website. Cabinet Members 

will work with their officers to direct the timeline for each matter, taking account of 
opportunities to consult with the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees where 
appropriate.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirement to which the Council must 
adhere. Councils may use their discretion to publish information that exceeds the 
minimum requirements. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of the work that the Cabinet will be undertaking. Where 

appropriate, analyses in respect of equalities and safeguarding relevant to its decisions 
will be presented to Cabinet as individual issues come forward.

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have been 

identified.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

62



9 Background Papers
9.1 Section 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made 

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Cabinet Forward Plan, 1 June 2019 to 31 May 2020

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 7 March 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not applicable

63

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET FORWARD PLAN
 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet 

1 June 2019 to 31 May 2020

At its meetings, the Cabinet may make key decisions and non-key decisions. They may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework.

A key decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely:

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to 
the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards.

A non-key decision is one that is not a key decision.

The Forward Plan

The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council.

65

A
ppendix 1



Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council 

Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Cabinet – June 2019

Proposed Statement of Common Ground - Stamford North (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To consider a draft 
development brief for land at 
Stamford North for 
consultation

11 
June 
2019

To agree a draft development 
brief for land at Stamford North 
for consultation

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Street lighting
Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley, the Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations

To consider a street lighting 
policy and LED replacement 
programme

11 
June 
2019

To consider recommendations 
from the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in respect of a 
street lighting policy and an 
LED replacement programme

Environment

Gary Smith
Tel:  01476 406344
E-mail: gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet – 9 July 2019

Asset Management Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider the draft Asset 
Management Strategy

9 July 
2019

To adopt an Asset 
Management Strategy

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Jane McDaid

Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk

Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To consider the Rectory 
Farm Supplementary 
Planning Document following 
consultation on a draft 
document

9 July 
2019

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in respect 
of Rectory Farm 

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Sylvia Bland

Tel: 01476 40 63 88
E-mail: s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk

66

mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Local Plan
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To approve a period of 
consultation on modifications 
arising from the Inspection of 
the Local Plan

9 July 
2019

To agree to go out to 
consultation on any 
modifications arising from the 
Local Plan Inspection

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Cabinet – 10 September 2019

Housing Strategy
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Cabinet 
Member for Housing

To consider the Council’s 
strategy to address the need 
for the provision of new 
social and affordable homes

10 Sept 
2019

To approve the Council’s 
strategy and approach to the 
provision of new social and 
affordable homes within the 
district

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services 
July 2019

Ken Lyon
Tel: 07773 621443
E-mail: ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet – 10 December 2019

Council Tax Base 2020/21 (Recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To agree the Council Tax 
base for 2020/21, which will 
form the basis of the Budget 
proposals for the year

10 Dec 
2019

To determine the Council Tax 
Base to form the basis of the 
2020/21 Budget proposals to 
be recommended to Council

Budget
14 January 2020

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Draft Budget proposals
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the Draft Budget 
proposals for 2020/21

10 Dec 
2019

To agree the draft budget 
proposals for 2020/21 for 
consultation 

Budget
14 January 2020

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet – 18 February 2020

67

mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Budget proposals 2020/21 (Budget framework – recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the final Budget 
Proposals for 2020/21

18 Feb 
2020

To approve the Cabinet’s 
budget proposals and 
recommend them to Council

Budget
14 January 2020

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Other items – dates pending

St. Peter’s Hill Re-development – office remodelling (Key Decision and recommendation to Council)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider proposals for the 
refurbishment of the offices 
at St. Peter’s Hill, following 
the first phase of works to 
provide high quality public 
realm through to the new 
cinema 

Not 
before 
1 July 
2019

To approve proposals and 
seek budget approval from 
Council

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Jane McDaid

Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

Information relating to this 
decision is exempt under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 
1972 as amended because it 
contains information which 
relates to the financial or 
business affairs of an 
individual or organisation

Not 
before 
1 July 
2019

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Paul Thomas

Tel: 01476 40 61 62
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk  

Cultural Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the 
Council

To consider the draft Cultural 
Strategy for South Kesteven

Not 
before 
1 July 
2019

To adopt a Cultural Strategy 
for South Kesteven

Culture & Visitor 
Economy
12 July 2018 Michael Cross

Tel: 01476 40 61 29
E-mail: 
michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk  

68

mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Local Plan (Policy Framework Proposal)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

Consideration of the revised 
South Kesteven Local Plan 
following examination and 
notice of modifications

Council 
Not 
before 
1 July 
2019

To adopt the revised Local 
Plan for South Kesteven

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

69

mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
11 June 2019

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

        

Decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members
This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet on 7 March 2019.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support 
Assistant 29 May 2019

Approved by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change 29 May 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 31 May 2019

Recommendation to the decision maker

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the decisions taken by individual Cabinet 
Members in the period since the last Cabinet meeting was held on 7 March 2019.

71

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Under the strong Leader model of governance, the Leader can allocate decision-making 

power to the Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members. Decisions of the Cabinet will be 
made during Cabinet meetings while individual Cabinet Members may make decisions at 
any time in accordance with the relevant Regulations.

1.2 All of the decisions made by individual Cabinet Members since the Cabinet last met are 
attached as appendices to this report. Both the report on which the decision was based, 
and the decision notice are attached.

1.3 Since the Cabinet met on 7 March 2019, the following decisions have been made:

 Memorandum of understanding to support joint action in Lincolnshire on improving 
health through housing
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing and the Cabinet Member 
for Health, Wellbeing and Skills on 5 March 2019
Date decision effective: 14 March 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 1

 Adoption of the Carlby Neighbourhood Plan
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communication on 19 
March 2019
Date decision effective: 28 March 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 2

 Adoption of the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communication on 19 
March 2019
Date decision effective: 28 March 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 3

 Award of contract for the collection of stray dogs
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Environment on 25 March 2019
Date decision effective: 3 April 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 4

 Urgent roof repair works to the former Stamford Museum, Broad Street, Stamford 
(Welland School of Dance)
Non-key decision taken by the Deputy Leader of the Council on 27 March 2019
Date decision effective: 6 April 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 5

 Amendment to Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – Independent Living
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing on 28 March 2019
Date decision effective: 6 April 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 6

 Authorisation to write of uncollectable non-domestic rate liabilities totalling £108,626.76
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Finance on 4 April 2019
Date decision effective: 13 April 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 7

 Utilisation of the Invest to Save Reserve
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Finance on 12 April 2019
Date decision effective: Decision called-in
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 8

72



 Utilisation of the Invest to Save Reserve to fund the procurement of an online forms 
library package
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Finance on 29 April 2019
Date decision effective: 9 May 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 9

 Enforced sale of empty property to recover debt
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing on 29 April 2019
Date decision effective: 8 May 2019 (call-in expired)
Exempt report and decision notice attached as Appendix 10

 Purchase of a property
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing on 30 April 2019
Date decision effective: 9 May 2019 (call-in expired)
Exempt report and decision notice attached as Appendix 11

1.4 Any decisions made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next 
meeting of the Cabinet.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The report that is presented to the decision-maker includes information on consultation 

and feedback received in respect of the matters to which the decisions listed in this report 
relate.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

were considered.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 The financial implications are set out within each decision.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The provisions relating to the Cabinet, its Members and delegations by the Leader are set 

out at Article 8 of the Constitution. The Strong Leader and Cabinet model to carry out 
executive functions was adopted by the Council in accordance with the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of decisions that have been made. Each individual report 

on which a decision is based will consider any equality or safeguarding implications.

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no high risks were identified.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

9 Background Papers

73



9.1 None; relevant background papers are referred to in the report for each decision.

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Memorandum of understanding to support joint action in Lincolnshire on 

improving health through housing

10.2 Appendix 2: Adoption of the Carlby Neighbourhood Plan

10.3 Appendix 3: Adoption of the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan

10.4 Appendix 4: Award of contract for the collection of stray dogs

10.5 Appendix 5: Urgent roof repair works to the former Stamford Museum, Broad Street, 
Stamford (Welland School of Dance)

10.6 Appendix 6: Amendment to Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – Independent 
Living

10.7 Appendix 7: Authorisation to write off uncollectable non-domestic rate liabilities totalling 
£108, 626.76

10.8 Appendix 8: Utilisation of the Invest to Save Reserve

10.9 Appendix 9: Utilisation of the Invest to Save Reserve to fund the procurement of an online 
forms library package

10.10 Appendix 10: Enforced sale of empty property to recover debt

10.11 Appendix 11: Purchase of a property

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 7 March 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not applicable

74



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Nick Neilson
Cabinet Member for Housing

Councillor Jacky Smith
Cabinet Member for Communities, 
Health, Wellbeing and Skills

REPORT AUTHOR: Head of Environmental

REPORT NO. ENV712

DATE: 4 March 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Memorandum of understanding to support joint action in 
Lincolnshire on improving health through housing

CABINET 
MEMBER REMITS: Housing

Communities, Health, Wellbeing and Skills

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

None

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS:

Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Board, Agenda Item 7d - 11 
December 2018

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To seek commitment for South Kesteven District Council to work towards 
achieving the aims and ambitions of the Memorandum of understanding to 
support joint action in Lincolnshire on improving health through housing.

75

Appendix 1

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=488&MId=4963&Ver=4
http://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=488&MId=4963&Ver=4


 (2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 It is recommended that South Kesteven District Council support and work 
towards achieving the aims and ambitions of the memorandum of 
understanding to support joint action in Lincolnshire on improving health through 
housing. 

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 In March 2017, the Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) established 
the Housing Health and Care Delivery Group (HHCDG) to oversee the Housing 
priority theme of the Joint Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

3.2 Members of the Group include representatives (Officers or Elected Members) 
from each of the 7 Lincolnshire Local Authorities, Lincolnshire County Council 
and the NHS.

3.3 The HHCDG identified the need to agree a set of shared common aims and 
principles for a Lincolnshire approach to working across the housing, health and 
care sectors.   This is articulated in the Memorandum of understanding. 

3.4 The HWB have invited all HHCDG stakeholders to support the MoU. 

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1  There are no financial implications arising from this report.   

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 The MoU is a statement of intent between the parties indicating a common 
approach and commitment to action as provided by Article 15.1 of the 
Constitution of the Council, Arrangements to promote well-being.  It does not 
imply a legal commitment.

 (6) APPENDICIES

6.1 Appendix 1 – Memorandum of understanding (MoU) to support joint action in 
Lincolnshire on improving health and wellbeing through the home

(7) OFFICER CONTACT

Anne-Marie Coulthard
Head of Environmental 

Telephone:  01476 406319    E-mail:  a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

(8) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on Monday 4 March date effective will be Wednesday 13 
March 2019 subject to the issue not being called-in.

76

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


1

Appendix 1

A Memorandum of 
Understanding 
(MoU) to support 
joint action in 
Lincolnshire on 
improving health 
and wellbeing 
through the home

77



2

Housing, Health and Care – 
A practical partnership

Why a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU)? 

1. The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently. 

2. We in Lincolnshire will work together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs.  

3. This Memorandum of Understanding sets out: 

- Our shared commitment to joint action across local government, housing, health and care 
sectors, in Lincolnshire; 

- Principles for joint-working to deliver better housing, health and wellbeing outcomes and 
reduce health inequalities; 

- The context and framework for local cross-sector partnerships to design and deliver: 
o Appropriate levels and types of housing, to meet a range of needs;
o Healthy homes, communities and neighbourhoods which promote health and 

wellbeing; 
o Integrated and effective services that meet individuals’, their carer’s/carers’ and their 

family’s needs; 
- A shared action plan, with specific actions agreed by individual partners in accordance with 

their own policies, to help deliver these aims.

4. Working together, we will:

- Establish ways to secure, interpret and share evidence to support local dialogue and 
decision-making across local government, health, social care and housing sectors; 

- Enable improved collaboration and integration between housing, health and care agencies  
in  planning, commissioning and delivering homes and services; 

- Promote the housing sector's contribution to:
o Addressing the wider determinants of health and health equity. 
o Improving the patient experience and outcomes.
o ‘Making Every Contact Count’ (MECC).
o Safeguarding. 

- Promote the contribution of health and care services, whether directly delivered or 
commissioned from others to: 

o Enable people to secure and remain in their homes. 
o Reduce homelessness.
o Maintain access to education, employment and their wider community.

- Develop the workforce across all sectors so they are confident and skilled in understanding 
the relationship between where people live and their health and wellbeing and are able to 
identify suitable solutions to improve outcomes.

78



3

Context

5. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 introduced a number of provisions intended to improve the 
quality of care received by patients and patient outcomes, efficiency, and to reduce inequalities 
of access and outcomes. Provisions require co-operation between the NHS and local 
government at all levels. The Health and Wellbeing Board (a partnership of all those working to 
advance the health and wellbeing of the people in Lincolnshire), also have a duty to encourage 
commissioners to work together.

6. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 outlines that Local Authorities and Partners must 
consider the needs of looked after children, care leavers and young people.  Through this group 
we are able to ensure that service planning and designs meet the needs of young people and 
reduce the need for intervention and support in later life.  We should afford all children the same 
care, nurture, health and well-being opportunities, and ensure Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers have the same life chances as any other child or young person. The corporate parenting 
principles outline that good, responsible parenting involves, but is not limited to: 

- Making sure that children and young people have a strong sense of belonging, and that they 
are cared about as well as cared for. 

- Supporting children and young people through school, college or work, being ambitious for 
them and helping them develop a sense of aspiration and self-belief. 

- Making sure children and young people are safe. 

- Making sure children and young people are healthy, and health-aware, and are offered the 
very best parenting.  

- Making sure children and young people have the best start in life and opportunities to thrive 
and grow.

- Making sure children and young people are actively listened to, respected and valued, 
encouraging them to develop and participate as citizens now, not simply as 'citizens in 
waiting'. 

- Encouraging and supporting children and young people to form and sustain a range of 
healthy relationships, developing how they manage their feelings and behaviours, and 
understanding those of others.

Safe and secure accommodation is fundamental to ensuring all of the above and ensuring the 
wellbeing of young people and those transitioning into adulthood at 18 years old. By working 
together we can reduce the need for local authority and health intervention in later life by offering 
young people stability and suitable accommodation earlier. 

7. The Care Act 2014 aims to improve people’s quality of life, delay and reduce the need for care, 
ensure positive care experiences and safeguard adults from harm1. Local authorities in 
Lincolnshire are required to consider the physical, mental and emotional wellbeing of the 

1 The Care Act relates primarily to people aged 18 and over but young people approaching adulthood and 
those caring for an adult or in families of someone receiving care should also benefit. The Children and 
Families Act 2014 is also relevant to young people with care and support needs.

79



4

individual needing care, and assess the needs of carers. They must ensure the provision of 
preventative services and carry out their care and support functions with the aim of integrating 
services with those provided by the NHS or other health-related services. 

8. The Care Act calls for: 

- A shared vision and culture of cooperation and coordination across health, public health, 
social care and local authority roles, e.g. as housing commissioners, working closely with 
public, voluntary and private sector providers to improve services. 

- A whole system, outcomes based approach to meeting the needs of individuals, their carer(s) 
and family, which is based on a robust understanding of the needs of individuals, their 
carer(s) and families now and in the future. 

- Consideration to the health and wellbeing of the workforce and carers. 

- Solutions to meet local needs based on evidence of ‘what works’. 

- Services that will address the wider determinants of health, e.g. housing, employment. 
Integrated health, care and support, and housing solutions could make best use of the 
budgets across the NHS, local authorities and their partners to achieve improved outcomes 
for less; for example, drawing on the Better Care Fund to support service transformation.

9. The Homelessness Reduction Act (2018) requires a stronger focus on preventing 
homelessness, extending the statutory duties of local housing authorities and places a duty to 
refer on a wide range of agencies to support prevention and early intervention.

10. Lincolnshire's Health and Wellbeing Board has legal duties to undertake Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA). Lincolnshire's JSNA includes a topic on Housing. The Board must also 
produce a Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Lincolnshire's Strategy includes a Housing Priority. 
This recognises that:

- Poor housing, unsuitable housing and precarious housing circumstances affect our 
physical and mental health. Generally speaking, the health of older people, children, 
disabled people and people with long-term illnesses is at greater risk from poor housing 
conditions. The home is a driver of health inequalities, and those living in poverty are 
more likely to live in poorer housing, precarious housing circumstances or lack 
accommodation altogether. 

- Key features of the right home environment (both permanent and temporary) are: 
o It is warm and affordable to heat. 
o It is free from hazards, safe from harm and promotes a sense of security. 
o It enables movement around the home and is accessible, including to visitors. 
o There is support from others if needed. 

- The right home environment can: 
o Protect and improve health and wellbeing and prevent physical and mental ill-health.
o Enable people to manage their health and care needs, including long-term conditions, 

and ensure positive care experiences by integrating services in the home.
o Allow people to remain in their own home for as long as they choose. 

80



5

- In doing so it can: 
o Delay and reduce the need for primary care and social care interventions, including 

admission to long-term care settings. 
o Prevent hospital admissions.
o Enable timely discharge from hospital and prevent re-admissions to hospital. 
o Enable rapid recovery from periods of ill-health or planned admissions.

11. In Lincolnshire the right home environment is enabled by a range of stakeholders (not 
exhaustive): 

- The Health and Wellbeing Board has a duty to understand the health and wellbeing of 
their communities, the wider factors that impact on this and local assets that can help to 
improve outcomes and reduce inequalities. The inclusion of housing and housing 
circumstances, e.g. homelessness in Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and the 
Board's Strategy supports this MoU and steers local commissioning.

- Local housing and planning authorities2 commission the right range of housing to meet 
the needs of people living in Lincolnshire, and intervene to protect and improve health in 
the private sector, to prevent homelessness and enable people to remain living in their 
own home should their needs change.

- Housing providers’ knowledge of their tenants and communities, and expertise in 
engagement, informs their plans to develop new homes and manage their existing 
homes to best meet needs. This can include working with NHS providers to re-design 
care pathways and develop new preventative support services in the community;

- Housing, care and support providers provide specialist housing and a wide range of 
services to enable people to re-establish their lives after a crisis, e.g. homelessness, or 
time in hospital, and to remain in their own home as their health and care needs change. 
Home improvement agencies and handyperson services deliver adaptations and a wide 
range of other home improvements to enable people to remain safe and warm in their 
own home.

- The voluntary and community sector offers a wide range of services, from day centres 
for homeless people to information and advice to housing support services. 

12. All stakeholders understand the needs of their customers and communities; their knowledge and 
insight can enable health and wellbeing partners to identify and target those who are most in 
need. 

2 Local housing and planning authorities in two-tier areas are the district councils.

81



6

Oversight

13. We aim to act and work together to ensure momentum continues in the coming years. 

14. The key signatories to this MoU will be represented at the Housing, Health and Care Delivery 
Group. The group will review progress annually and agree if changes are required to the MoU 
or the action plan.

15. The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) identifies housing as a priority. A delivery 
plan is in place and puts the responsibility on a range of people across housing, health and 
care. We will use JHWS delivery plan for housing as the basis for our actions, but it will not be 
limited to this.

16. All relevant agencies are invited to adopt this MoU, contributing to the local evidence base, 
needs analysis, commissioning and service delivery, and agree to work towards and meet the 
aims and delivery plan of this document. 

Indicators of Success

1. Better strategic planning: 

Include housing and homelessness in key strategy and planning processes for health, social care 
and local government at a local level. The planning processes should be responsive to the needs 
and input of local communities. They should deliver good quality housing options for all, meeting 
both current health needs across the lifespan and be responsive to future changes. 

2. Better understanding of the preventative role of housing: 

Place greater recognition the role a stable and secure housing situation plays in keeping people 
healthy, independent and preventing ill health or injury. There is a strong case for investment in 
improving poor housing, as well as providing new and specialised housing. 

3. Greater collaborative care: 

Greater joint action on the contribution housing can make in different care pathways, including 
prevention, transfer of care or discharge planning. 

4. Better use of resources: 

Use our resources more effectively to improve health through the home, prevent illness, manage 
demand and deliver service improvements across local housing, health and social care sectors. 

5. Improved signposting: 

Frontline housing, homelessness, health and social care professionals should know which 
services and interventions are available locally across other sectors, and how to refer people into 
these. There should be greater awareness among the general public about the services they can 
access to improve their home environment where this is affecting their health and wellbeing 
outcomes.

82



7

6. More shared learning:

Housing, homelessness health and social care professionals to have the appropriate training to 
better prevent ill health and promote good health and wellbeing through the home, and deliver 
integrated care and support across the sectors. 

7. Wider sector engagement:

Increase the number of signatories to the MoU, including organisations representing frontline 
professionals and experts by experience.

83



8

Declaration Statement for Lincolnshire
We, the organisations listed below, support this Memorandum of Understanding. 

Boston Borough 
Council

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

East Lindsey District 
Council

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

City of Lincoln 
Council

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

Lincolnshire 
Community 
Healthcare Services 
NHS Trust

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

Lincolnshire County 
Council

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

84



9

Lincolnshire 
Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

North Kesteven 
District Council

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

South Holland District 
Council

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

South Kesteven 
District Council

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals NHS Trust

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

West Lindsey District 
Council

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and 
appropriate support services enable people to live at home safely and independently.

We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, care, and 
voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in 
Lincolnshire.

We support the 
aims of the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

85



10

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy | Delivery Plan

Priority | Housing and Health

Objective Key Deliverables/Actions Linked Theme Outcome Lead 
Responsibility Timescale

Our shared commitment to 
joint action across local 
government, health, social 
care and housing sectors, in 
Lincolnshire through an 
agreed Memorandum of 
Understanding.

Host a targeted workshop to jointly 
develop and create a MoU with all 
members of the HHCDG (invite 
representative member of the HWB). 

Agree an action plan with measurable 
outcomes. 

Ensure the HWB signs off the MoU.

Agree and appoint champions members 
of the HHCDG to act as the voice for 
Lincolnshire  ensuring that we are 
committed to be the collective voice to 
seek appropriate support to help the 
housing market, especially for specialist 
housing for disabled people.

Ensure information sharing arrangements 
are in place to support closer working, 
problem solving and escalation 
processes.

1, 2 & 5 A formal signed 
MoU in place.

Measurable 
outcomes such 
as tasks that 
will:

Review the 
effectiveness 
and  positive 
impact the 
HHCDG has 
made.

Adopt a positive 
culture 
regarding 
funding and 
budget savings 
"we are in it 
together".

Capture areas 
of improved 
practise due to 

Cllr Bowkett 

Derek Ward  

July/Sept 2018 

Agree yearly 
dates for 
annual 
effectiveness 
review.

86



11

Objective Key Deliverables/Actions Linked Theme Outcome Lead 
Responsibility Timescale

Ensure the MoU covers key areas of 
legislation such as the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017

the HHCDG for 
example 
development 
work identifying 
invisible young 
carers.

Evaluate core 
areas of work 
which require 
housing health 
and care 
colleagues to 
joint work such 
as DFG.

Clear objectives 
and 
understanding 
of a shared 
responsibility of 
housing.

Adopt a whole family 
approach to tackling housing 
needs.

Embrace opportunities such as the New 
Wellbeing service to embed a whole 
house approach.

Develop and influence a whole house 
approach with-in the neighbourhood 
teams 

1, 3 & 5 Create housing 
champions in 
neighbourhood 
teams and 
wellbeing 
service.  

Deliver MECC 
training to a 

2019

87



12

Objective Key Deliverables/Actions Linked Theme Outcome Lead 
Responsibility Timescale

Work with MECC to develop a Whole 
Housing Approach Toolkit and awareness 
training package which includes an area 
of safeguarding training.

Work with the young Carer's Service to 
plan how to identify the hidden young 
carers who are invisible to the housing 
process.

Proactively work towards a county wide 
consistent approach to working with 
under 25's looked after children, example 
all DC helping their housing issues i.e.: 
council tax.

targeted 
number of 
people.

Number of 
young people 
identified as a 
YC. 

Develop and 
create New 
pathways for 
dealing with 
YC, amending 
polices as 
required.

Concerted action across 
partners to tackling 
homelessness

Developing strategic relationships and 
partnerships through the Homelessness 
Strategic Partnership to deliver concerted 
action across partners to tackle 
homelessness

Explore the opportunity for a standalone 
topic for JSNA for homelessness. 

A clear action plan to respond to the 
increase in rough sleeping.

Deliver the social impact bond project 
ACTion Lincs working with entrenched 
rough sleepers with complex needs.

1, 3 & 5 Established 
cross sector 
senior group 
with a clear 
delivery plan 
and oversight of 
the county wide 
homelessness 
strategy.

Improved 
evidence and 
understanding 
of rough 
sleeping and an 
agreed plan of 

Amanda Pauling 2018/19

88



13

Objective Key Deliverables/Actions Linked Theme Outcome Lead 
Responsibility Timescale

Improve access to health and treatment 
services to reduce or prevent 
homelessness.

action to 
respond 
including 
informing 
commissioning 
decisions.

ACTion Lincs 
project 
delivering long 
term life 
changing 
support for 120 
entrenched and 
complex need 
rough sleepers 
across the 
county.

Improved 
evidence and 
understanding 
regarding the 
health needs of 
homeless 
people in 
Lincolnshire 
and how this 
can inform 
health service 
provision.

Ensure people have the 
knowledge and capability to 

Develop and Embed a Sustainable 
Housing Plan for vulnerable people 

1, 3 & 5 2018/19

89



14

Objective Key Deliverables/Actions Linked Theme Outcome Lead 
Responsibility Timescale

access and maintain 
appropriate housing

(including those with mental health 
needs) and young people which would 
see the introduction of multi- agency 
meetings before evictions especially for 
those who are known to adult social care 
and would have safeguarding concerns.

Connect to the Financial Inclusion 
Partnership Board (FIP) for joint working 
and collaboration.

Explore support and advice to private 
sector landlords to reduce evictions

Work with DWP to ensure vulnerable 
people are supported through the 
implementation of Universal Credit

Review supported housing 
arrangements across 
partners to support 
vulnerable people with 
complex presenting needs, 
(including extra care and 
DFG)

All stakeholders and partners to 
contribute and agree with a proactive 
programme to deliver much needed extra 
care beds.

Improve and deliver quicker adaptions:

 Agree a county wide schedule of rates 
for Lincolnshire to drive improvements 

 Work with the Moving forward DFG 
group to identify top 5 actions and 
recommendations as published by 
Foundations. 

1, 2, 3 & 5

Improved time 
scales and 
process

Improved joint 
working  for 
BCF outcomes 

Moving Forward 
DFG Group

Sept 2018

90



15

Objective Key Deliverables/Actions Linked Theme Outcome Lead 
Responsibility Timescale

 Action plan phase  two of Mosaic to 
improve pathways and intelligence 
supporting DFG

 Embrace and adopt a culture change 
which is dissolved and extended to 
other staff regarding the "we are in it 
together".

 Celebrate success and promote good 
practise. 

 On a local level for Lincolnshire, 
address the current  inequalities on 
who is eligible for DFG e.g. those in 
council property (some of the poorest 
people in our communities) through 
their landlord HRAs pay for adaptions 
but  tenants in the RP sector receive 
adaptations out of general taxation.

Improved 
evidence of 
data to drive 
improvements

Understand and address 
housing related delayed 
transfers of care

Develop a hoarding protocol and policy to 
understand and address the demand 
hoarding presents to DTOC

Review and evaluate learning from the 
Hospital housing Link worker 

Develop Key contacts list for staff to use 
and help navigate the Housing Health and 
Care arena.

1 & 2 Lisa Loy 

Rachel 
Redgrave

Sem Neal   

2018/19

91



16

Objective Key Deliverables/Actions Linked Theme Outcome Lead 
Responsibility Timescale

Influence the Public health intelligence 
team to 'deep dive' into the data and 
intelligence presented by DTOC

targeted work with LPFT to created new 
Housing pathways

Addressing poor standards 
of housing and the level of 
appropriate housing required

1. Influence investment and consideration 
to using funding opportunities to address 
poor houses.

2. Use the research and evaluation from 
Healthwatch to demonstrate how poor 
housing impacts on your health.  

3. Develop and Embed a Sustainable 
Housing Plan for vulnerable people, this 
will identify each vulnerable person and 
capture the barriers presented. The plan 
would be based on the same principles of 
the homelessness housing plan

4. Poverty and poor housing standards 
are prevalent in all districts, often and 
notably in the private rented sector (not 
always). As a newly established group we 
should work towards and encourage a 
collective approach to this. An action 
should be to influence and embed 
suitable initiatives about tackling rogue 

1, 2, 3 & 5 Housing, Health 
and Care 
Delivery Group

2019

92



17

Objective Key Deliverables/Actions Linked Theme Outcome Lead 
Responsibility Timescale

landlords, promoting good landlord 
schemes

93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

Approval is granted for South Kesteven District Council to support 
and work towards achieving the aims and ambitions of the 
memorandum of understanding to support joint action in 
Lincolnshire on improving health through housing.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval  for South Kesteven District Council to support and work 
towards achieving the aims and ambitions of the memorandum of 
understanding to support joint action in Lincolnshire on improving health 
through housing. 

(2) Considerations/Evidence

In March 2017, the Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) 
established the Housing Health and Care Delivery Group (HHCDG) to 
oversee the Housing priority theme of the Joint Lincolnshire Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. 

Members of the Group include representatives (Officers or Elected Members) 
from each of the 7 Lincolnshire Local Authorities, Lincolnshire County Council 
and the NHS.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The HHCDG identified the need to agree a set of shared common aims and 
principles for a Lincolnshire approach to working across the housing, health 
and care sectors.   This is articulated in the Memorandum of understanding. 

The HWB have invited all HHCDG stakeholders to support the MoU. 

95



Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Nick Neilson, Cabinet Member for Housing jointly with
Councillor Jacky Smith, Cabinet Member for Communities, Wellbeing, Health and 
Skills

Date of Decision: 05 March 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 06 March 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

14 March 2019

96



1

NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Helen Goral
Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications

REPORT AUTHOR: Roger Ranson
Head of Planning Policy

REPORT NO. SEG63

DATE: 11 March 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Adoption of the Carlby Neighbourhood Plan

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT:

Growth and Communications 

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

None 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

Not Applicable
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS:

The Localism Act 2011 
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents)

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 and 
2018 
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made)

Colsterworth and District Neighbourhood Plan and background 
documents which can be found at
(www.southkesteven.gov.uk/colsterworthanddistrictplan) 
Notice of result of Poll for referendum 7 March 2019 – Carlby 
Parish

97

Appendix 2

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/colsterworthanddistrictplan


2

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To consider whether the Carlby Neighbourhood Plan should be made part of 
the Development Plan for South Kesteven following the positive outcome of 
the referendum held on 7th March 2019. 

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That the Carlby Neighbourhood Plan is made part of the Development Plan 
for South Kesteven.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 The Localism Act 2011 (the Act) introduced Neighbourhood Planning as a new 
way for communities to help shape future development in their area.  One of the 
types of Neighbourhood Planning that has been introduced is Neighbourhood 
Development Plans (NDP), which set out policies for the development and use 
of land in a particular area.  If a NDP has successfully passed all stages of 
preparation including an Examination and Referendum the LPA must adopt it 
as part of the Development Plan for the Neighbourhood Area.

3.2 In accordance with Neighbourhood Plan Regulations 2012 (as amended), the 
Authority must ‘make’ the Plan through its own constitutional process, in this 
case a non-key decision by the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Development 
within 8 weeks of the referendum date. The non-key decision must also be 
published on the Council website in accordance with standard practice and 
procedure. 

3.3 The Plan has been through a significant amount of formal and informal 
consultation including Pre-submission Consultation (Regulation 14) undertaken 
by the Parish Council.   The Examination version of the Carlby Neighbourhood 
Plan was submitted to the Council in March 2018.  Following initial verification 
checks, the Plan was subsequently published under Regulation 16 by the 
Council which ended on 8th June 2018.  

3.3 The Council, with the agreement of Carlby Parish Council, appointed Andrew 
Ashcroft B.A.,M.A, M.R.T.P.I. as the Independent Examiner. All  representations 
received on the Examination version of the Plan were forwarded to him for 
consideration. 

  
3.4 The Examiner decided that the issues raised in the representations did not 

require a public hearing to be held.

3.5 It is the role of the Examiner to consider whether a neighbourhood plan meets 
the basic conditions. In order to do this the Plan must:- 

 Have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by 
the Secretary of State;

 Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;

98



3

 Be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan 
for the area; and

 Be compatible with European Union obligations and, not breach, nor be in 
any way incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights.

3.7 The Examiner’s report into the Plan was received in December 2017.  Subject 
to the recommended changes, the Examiner found that, the Plan meets the 
basic conditions in terms of:

 having appropriate regard to national planning policy;
 contributing to the achievement of sustainable development;
 being in general conformity with the strategic policies in the development 

plan for the local area;
 being compatible with human rights requirements;
 being compatible with European Union obligations.

3.8 The Examiner recommended to the Council that, subject to the modifications 
proposed, the Plan should proceed to a Referendum.

3.9 The Referendum was held on 7th March 2019 and the following question was 
asked - Do you want South Kesteven District Council to use the neighbourhood 
plan for Carlby to help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood 
area? 33.7% of those on the Electoral Register for Carlby Parish turned out for 
the Referendum. 93% voted in favour, i.e. of the 130 votes cast, 121 were cast 
in favour of ‘yes’ and 9 were cast in favour of ‘no’.

3.10 The decision to make the Carlby Neighbourhood Plan part of the Development 
Plan is a legal requirement in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
The only circumstance where the District Council should not make this decision 
is where the making of the plan would breach, or would otherwise be 
incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the Convention rights (within the 
meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998).  The Council is satisfied that there is 
no breach of EU obligations.

3.11 The Neighbourhood Plan, including its preparation, does not breach, and would 
not otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the Convention 
rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). Therefore the only 
available option open to the Council is to make the plan part of the Development 
Plan for South Kesteven.

3.12 There is a requirement that the District Council will publish a formal decision 
statement as required under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012.  The District Council will therefore publish a formal decision 
statement as required under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The costs can be met from the Central Government New Burdens grant which 
is earmarked for use such as supporting new Neighbourhood Planning.  

99



4

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 A local planning authority must, by virtue of section 38A (4) (a) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, make a neighbourhood development plan 
to which the proposal relates if in each applicable referendum more than half of 
those voting have voted in favour of the plan unless, the authority consider that 
the making of the plan would breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with, 
any EU obligations or any of the Convention rights within the meaning of the 
Human Rights Act. There is no apparent incompatibility with EU or any other 
Convention rights.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Roger Ranson
Business Manager Spatial and Economic Growth 
01476 406438

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on Tuesday 19 March date effective will be Thursday 28 
March 2019 

100



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for the Carlby Neighbourhood Plan to be 
made part of the Development Plan for South Kesteven.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval that the Carlby Neighbourhood Plan is made part of the 
Development Plan for South Kesteven.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The Localism Act 2011 (the Act) introduced Neighbourhood Planning as a 
new way for communities to help shape future development in their area.  
One of the types of Neighbourhood Planning that has been introduced is 
Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDP), which set out policies for the 
development and use of land in a particular area.  If a NDP has successfully 
passed all stages of preparation including an Examination and Referendum 
the LPA must adopt it as part of the Development Plan for the Neighbourhood 
Area.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

In accordance with Neighbourhood Plan Regulations 2012 (as amended), the 
Authority must ‘make’ the Plan through its own constitutional process, in this 
case a non-key decision by the Portfolio Holder for Economy and 
Development within 8 weeks of the referendum date. The non-key decision 
must also be published on the Council website in accordance with standard 
practice and procedure. 

The Plan has been through a significant amount of formal and informal 
consultation including Pre-submission Consultation (Regulation 14) 
undertaken by the Parish Council.   The Examination version of the Carlby 
Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to the Council in March 2018.  Following 
initial verification checks, the Plan was subsequently published under 
Regulation 16 by the Council which ended on 8th June 2018.  

The Council, with the agreement of Carlby Parish Council, appointed Andrew 
Ashcroft B.A.,M.A, M.R.T.P.I. as the Independent Examiner. All  

101



representations received on the Examination version of the Plan were 
forwarded to him for consideration. 
  
The Examiner decided that the issues raised in the representations did not 
require a public hearing to be held.

It is the role of the Examiner to consider whether a neighbourhood plan 
meets the basic conditions. In order to do this the Plan must:- 

 Have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State;

 Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;
 Be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the 

development plan for the area; and
 Be compatible with European Union obligations and, not breach, 

nor be in any way incompatible with the European Convention on 
Human Rights.

The Examiner’s report into the Plan was received in December 2017.  
Subject to the recommended changes, the Examiner found that, the Plan 
meets the basic conditions in terms of:

 having appropriate regard to national planning policy;
 contributing to the achievement of sustainable development;
 being in general conformity with the strategic policies in the 

development plan for the local area;
 being compatible with human rights requirements;
 being compatible with European Union obligations.

The Examiner recommended to the Council that, subject to the modifications 
proposed, the Plan should proceed to a Referendum.

The Referendum was held on 7th March 2019 and the following question was 
asked - Do you want South Kesteven District Council to use the 
neighbourhood plan for Carlby to help it decide planning applications in the 
neighbourhood area? 33.7% of those on the Electoral Register for Carlby 
Parish turned out for the Referendum. 93% voted in favour, i.e. of the 130 
votes cast, 121 were cast in favour of ‘yes’ and 9 were cast in favour of ‘no’.

The decision to make the Carlby Neighbourhood Plan part of the 
Development Plan is a legal requirement in the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.  The only circumstance where the District Council should 
not make this decision is where the making of the plan would breach, or 
would otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the 
Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998).  The 
Council is satisfied that there is no breach of EU obligations.

The Neighbourhood Plan, including its preparation, does not breach, and 

102



would not otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the 
Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). 
Therefore the only available option open to the Council is to make the plan 
part of the Development Plan for South Kesteven.

There is a requirement that the District Council will publish a formal decision 
statement as required under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012.  The District Council will therefore publish a formal 
decision statement as required under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Helen Goral
Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications

Date of Decision: 19 March 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 20 March 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

28 March 2019

103



This page is intentionally left blank



1

NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Helen Goral
Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications

REPORT AUTHOR: Roger Ranson
Head of Planning Policy

REPORT NO. SEG64

DATE: 11 March 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Adoption of the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT:

Growth and Communications 

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

None 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

Not Applicable
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS:

The Localism Act 2011 
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents)
The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 and 
2018 
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made)
Colsterworth and District Neighbourhood Plan and background 
documents which can be found at
(www.southkesteven.gov.uk/colsterworthanddistrictplan) 
Notice of result of Poll for referendum 7 March 2019 – Thurlby 
Parish

105

Appendix 3

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/colsterworthanddistrictplan


2

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To consider whether the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan should be made part 
of the Development Plan for South Kesteven following the positive outcome 
of the referendum held on 7th March 2019. 

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan is made part of the Development 
Plan for South Kesteven.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 The Localism Act 2011 (the Act) introduced Neighbourhood Planning as a new 
way for communities to help shape future development in their area.  One of the 
types of Neighbourhood Planning that has been introduced is Neighbourhood 
Development Plans (NDP), which set out policies for the development and use 
of land in a particular area.  If a NDP has successfully passed all stages of 
preparation including an Examination and Referendum the LPA must adopt it 
as part of the Development Plan for the Neighbourhood Area.

3.2 In accordance with Neighbourhood Plan Regulations 2012 (as amended), the 
Authority must ‘make’ the Plan through its own constitutional process, in this 
case a non-key decision by the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Development 
within 8 weeks of the referendum date. The non-key decision must also be 
published on the Council website in accordance with standard practice and 
procedure. 

3.3 The Plan has been through a significant amount of formal and informal 
consultation including Pre-submission Consultation (Regulation 14) undertaken 
by the Parish Council.   The Examination version of the Thurlby Neighbourhood 
Plan was submitted to the Council in August 2018.  Following initial verification 
checks, the Plan was subsequently published under Regulation 16 by the 
Council for a six week period which ended on 15th  October 2018.  

3.3 The Council, with the agreement of Thurlby Parish Council, appointed Andrew 
Ashcroft B.A.,M.A, M.R.T.P.I. as the Independent Examiner. All  representations 
received on the Examination version of the Plan were forwarded to him for 
consideration. 

  
3.4 The Examiner decided that the issues raised in the representations did not 

require a public hearing to be held.

3.5 It is the role of the Examiner to consider whether a neighbourhood plan meets 
the basic conditions. In order to do this the Plan must:-

 Have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by 
the Secretary of State;

 Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;

106



3

 Be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan 
for the area; and

 Be compatible with European Union obligations and, not breach, nor be in 
any way incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights.

3.7 The Examiner’s report into the Plan was received in December 2017.  Subject 
to the recommended changes, the Examiner found that, the Plan meets the 
basic conditions in terms of:-

 having appropriate regard to national planning policy;
 contributing to the achievement of sustainable development;
 being in general conformity with the strategic policies in the development 

plan for the local area;
 being compatible with human rights requirements;
 being compatible with European Union obligations;

3.8 The Examiner recommended to the Council that, subject to the modifications 
proposed, the Plan should proceed to a Referendum.

3.9 The Referendum was held on 7th March 2019 and the following question was 
asked - Do you want South Kesteven District Council to use the neighbourhood 
plan for Thurlby to help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood 
area? 31.9% of those on the Electoral Register for Thurlby Parish turned out for 
the Referendum. 93% voted in favour, i.e. of the 548 votes cast, 508 were cast 
in favour of ‘yes’ and 39 were cast in favour of ‘no’.

3.10 The decision to make the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan part of the Development 
Plan is a legal requirement in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
The only circumstance where the District Council should not make this decision 
is where the making of the plan would breach, or would otherwise be 
incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the Convention rights (within the 
meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). The Council is satisfied that there is 
no breach of EU obligations.

3.11 The Neighbourhood Plan, including its preparation, does not breach, and would 
not otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the Convention 
rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). Therefore the only 
available option open to the Council is to make the plan part of the Development 
Plan for South Kesteven.

3.12 There is a requirement that the District Council will publish a formal decision 
statement as required under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012. The District Council will therefore publish a formal decision 
statement as required under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The costs can be met from the Central Government New Burdens grant which 
is earmarked for use such as supporting new Neighbourhood Planning.  

107



4

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 A local planning authority must, by virtue of section 38A (4) (a) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, make a neighbourhood development plan 
to which the proposal relates if in each applicable referendum more than half of 
those voting have voted in favour of the plan unless, the authority consider that 
the making of the plan would breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with, 
any EU obligations or any of the Convention rights within the meaning of the 
Human Rights Act. There is no apparent incompatibility with EU or any other 
Convention rights.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Roger Ranson
Head of Planning Policy
01476 406438

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on Tuesday 19 March date effective will be Thursday 28 
March 2019. 

108



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan to be made part 
of the Development Plan for South Kesteven.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan to be made part of the 
Development Plan for South Kesteven.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The Localism Act 2011 (the Act) introduced Neighbourhood Planning as a 
new way for communities to help shape future development in their area.  
One of the types of Neighbourhood Planning that has been introduced is 
Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDP), which set out policies for the 
development and use of land in a particular area.  If a NDP has successfully 
passed all stages of preparation including an Examination and Referendum 
the LPA must adopt it as part of the Development Plan for the Neighbourhood 
Area.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

In accordance with Neighbourhood Plan Regulations 2012 (as amended), the 
Authority must ‘make’ the Plan through its own constitutional process, in this 
case a non-key decision by the Portfolio Holder for Economy and 
Development within 8 weeks of the referendum date. The non-key decision 
must also be published on the Council website in accordance with standard 
practice and procedure. 

The Plan has been through a significant amount of formal and informal 
consultation including Pre-submission Consultation (Regulation 14) 
undertaken by the Parish Council.   The Examination version of the Thurlby 
Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to the Council in August 2018.  Following 
initial verification checks, the Plan was subsequently published under 
Regulation 16 by the Council for a six week period which ended on 15th  
October 2018.  

The Council, with the agreement of Thurlby Parish Council, appointed 
Andrew Ashcroft B.A.,M.A, M.R.T.P.I. as the Independent Examiner. All 

109



representations received on the Examination version of the Plan were 
forwarded to him for consideration. 
  
The Examiner decided that the issues raised in the representations did not 
require a public hearing to be held.

It is the role of the Examiner to consider whether a neighbourhood plan 
meets the basic conditions. In order to do this the Plan must:-

 Have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State;

 Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;
 Be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the 

development plan for the area; and
 Be compatible with European Union obligations and, not breach, 

nor be in any way incompatible with the European Convention on 
Human Rights.

The Examiner’s report into the Plan was received in December 2017.  
Subject to the recommended changes, the Examiner found that, the Plan 
meets the basic conditions in terms of:-

 having appropriate regard to national planning policy;
 contributing to the achievement of sustainable development;
 being in general conformity with the strategic policies in the 

development plan for the local area;
 being compatible with human rights requirements;
 being compatible with European Union obligations;

The Examiner recommended to the Council that, subject to the modifications 
proposed, the Plan should proceed to a Referendum.

The Referendum was held on 7th March 2019 and the following question was 
asked - Do you want South Kesteven District Council to use the 
neighbourhood plan for Thurlby to help it decide planning applications in the 
neighbourhood area? 31.9% of those on the Electoral Register for Thurlby 
Parish turned out for the Referendum. 93% voted in favour, i.e. of the 548 
votes cast, 508 were cast in favour of ‘yes’ and 39 were cast in favour of ‘no’.

The decision to make the Thurlby Neighbourhood Plan part of the 
Development Plan is a legal requirement in the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.  The only circumstance where the District Council should 
not make this decision is where the making of the plan would breach, or 
would otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the 
Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). The 
Council is satisfied that there is no breach of EU obligations.

The Neighbourhood Plan, including its preparation, does not breach, and 

110



would not otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the 
Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). 
Therefore the only available option open to the Council is to make the plan 
part of the Development Plan for South Kesteven.

There is a requirement that the District Council will publish a formal decision 
statement as required under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012. The District Council will therefore publish a formal decision 
statement as required under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Helen Goral
Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications

Date of Decision: 19 March 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 20 March 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

28 March 2019

111



This page is intentionally left blank



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment 

REPORT AUTHOR: Head of Environmental

REPORT NO. ENV714

DATE:

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Award of contract for the collection of stray dogs

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Environment

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

Minor

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: None

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To seek approval to award the contract for the collection of stray dogs to Pest 
Express Ltd following an open procedure procurement exercise.

113

Appendix 4

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Environment approve the award 
of the contract for the collection of stray dogs, commencing on 1 April 2019 for 
a period of 4 years with the option to extend for a further period of 1 year, to 
Pest Express Ltd 31 Bentinck Avenue, Tollerton, NG12 4ED.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 The Council has a statutory duty to seize stray dogs by virtue of Section 149 of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and must ensure appropriate 
arrangements are in place to discharge this function.  

3.2 A procurement exercise has been conducted in accordance with the Councils' 
Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules utilising the Open procedure. The 
submitted tenders were evaluated based on 45% cost / 55% quality.

3.3 The total contract value of the winning tender was £62,400 (over 4 years) with 
the option to extend for a further period of 1 year.   The contract price can be 
increased for the fifth year of the contract in line with the CPI.

3.4 The annual contract value of the winning tender is £15,600.   The dog collection 
service is to be provided between the hours of 08:00 and 22:00, 365 days a 
year.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The service can be delivered within the existing approved budget.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 Under Section 149 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 the local authority 
must appoint an officer to discharge the functions associated with dealing with 
stray dogs.  The discharge of this function may be delegated to another person, 
but the local authority remains responsible for securing that the functions are 
properly discharged.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

6.1 Anne-Marie Coulthard
Head of Environmental
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
Telephone:  01476 406319

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:

114

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


If the decision is made on Monday 25 March 2019, then it will become 
effective on Wednesday 3 April subject to it not being called-in

115



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted to award the contract for the collection of 
stray dogs, commencing on 1 April 2019 for a period of four years 
with the option to extend for a further period of one year, to Pest 
Express Ltd, 31 Bentick Avenue, Tollerton, NG12 4ED.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to award the contract for the collection of stray dogs to Pest 
Express Ltd following an open procedure procurement exercise.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The Council has a statutory duty to seize stray dogs by virtue of Section 149 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and must ensure appropriate 
arrangements are in place to discharge this function.  

(3) Reasons for Decision:

A procurement exercise has been conducted in accordance with the Councils' 
Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules utilising the Open procedure. 
The submitted tenders were evaluated based on 45% cost / 55% quality.

The total contract value of the winning tender was £62,400 (over 4 years) 
with the option to extend for a further period of 1 year.   The contract price 
can be increased for the fifth year of the contract in line with the CPI.

The annual contract value of the winning tender is £15,600.   The dog 
collection service is to be provided between the hours of 08:00 and 22:00, 
365 days a year.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

117



Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 
Cabinet Member for Environment

Date of Decision: 25 March 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 26 March 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

3 April 2019 

118



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Kelham Cooke – 
The Deputy Leader of the Council

REPORT AUTHOR: Chris Pike
Estate Surveyor 

REPORT NO. PD0077

DATE: 27 March 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Urgent roof repair works to the former Stamford Museum, 
Broad Street, Stamford (Welland School of Dance).

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Council Assets

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

Minor – Poorly maintained assets may attract vandalism and 
antisocial behaviour.

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended to 
report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: None

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The Council owns the former Museum building on Broad Street, Stamford, 
which has been occupied since August 2017 by the Welland School of Dance.

1.2 The purpose of this report is to request approval and funding to undertake 
urgent repair works to the roof and turret of the former Stamford Museum. The 
roof has deteriorated and water is penetrating the property, causing issues with 
its intended use and posing a health and safety risk.

119

Appendix 5

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


1.3 The building was originally constructed around 1895; it is located centrally within 
Stamford and is Grade II listed. The property comprises 240m² GIA of 
accommodation over two floors. Constructed of limestone with a mixture of 
Collyweston and natural slate roofs, the property is in good repair internally, but 
is showing signs of major deterioration externally especially the roofs to the rear.

1.4 In order for the tenant to continue in occupation and the building to stay in good 
repair the Council must undertake repair works to re-roof the rear elevations of 
the former Stamford Museum, along with minor roof repairs to the front roof and 
repair / decoration of the roof turret. 

1.5 The former museum is situated in a conservation area and holds a Grade II 
listing; the works need to be carried out by a contractor that has experience of 
working with properties similar to this. Research for contractors in the area that 
are able to complete the works required in the specification were carried out. 
Three quotations were obtained and evaluated. The preferred quotation total 
cost estimate is £29,115 inclusive of VAT, this is based on cheapest price, 
contractor’s knowledge and experience, references and ability to carry out the 
repair.

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 To approve the roof repair works to the former Stamford Museum, Broad Street, 
Stamford.

2.2 To enter into a contract to carry out the works with Heritage Roofing Services 
for the sum of £29,115 inclusive of VAT

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 The property is subject to a 5-year lease to Welland School of Dance from 
August 2017. The property is let on an internal repair basis, with South Kesteven 
District Council responsible for external repair. 

3.2 A condition survey undertaken in October 2017 noted that the roof would require 
attention within a year and there are now leaks causing disruption to the tenant’s 
occupation. It is understood some minor repairs and patching works have been 
undertaken in an effort to resolve previous issues but there are recurring leaks. 
Should the current disrepair be allowed to persist there is a significant risk the 
tenant will start to withhold their rent and further damage could be caused to the 
interior of the property.

3.3 Recent inspection has identified water staining to the ceiling in a number of 
places. The rear roof elevations have numerous slipped or missing slates, which 
are likely to be the cause of the leaks. It is deemed a false economy to try to 
replace the slipped tiles alone because the roof has been patched so often it 
now needs more comprehensive attention to bring it up to an adequate standard 
of repair. Much of the rear guttering is in a poor state of repair and will be 

120



repaired or replaced where necessary as part of this estimate. As the scaffolding 
is a significant proportion of the cost, it makes economic sense to do all these 
works at the same time.

3.4 Water is entering the premises whenever there is hard rainfall, which causes 
puddling on the wooden dance floor, which cost c. £40k to install. The water 
ingress has already caused an isolated area of the timber floor to warp, for which 
the school have advised they will be seeking compensation. 

3.5 Due to the height of the roof and location of the building there is a requirement 
for a design scaffold to be used to gain access and undertake the repairs. 
Planners were consulted on the works and confirmed the repairs would need to 
be like for like in terms of the materials, due to the listing and location within a 
conservation area. 

3.6 Natural welsh slate tiles will be used to replace any existing tiles on the rear 
elevations where the existing tiles are unable to be reclaimed. We have obtained 
three estimates for work. 

3.7 Following on from point 1.5; there were three quotes received as follows:

Quote A - £50,000.00 (excluding VAT)
Quote B - £35,000.00 estimated (initial £3,500 investigational works)
Quote C - £29,115.00 (inclusive of VAT)

Quote A was unsuccessful due to the cost (higher price) and Quote B due to 
uncertainty on price and not fulfilling the requirements of the specification as 
set.

Quote C was submitted by a local heritage roofing company who have worked 
on numerous buildings in the area and have a good record of accomplishment 
with buildings of this age.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 Cabinet has recommended an allocation of £25k to fund these works as part of 
the distribution of in-year Business Rates additional growth.  This proposal will 
be considered by Council on 31 January 2019.  If approved these repairs works 
can commence.  The quoted figure referred to at para. 3.6 includes VAT which 
is reclaimable by the Council.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 The contract for the provision of the roof repair works to the former Stamford 
Museum, Broad Street, Stamford (Welland School of Dance) has been tendered 
in accordance with the Public Contract Regulations and the Council’s Contract 
and Procurement Procedure Rules. Any contract documentation must be 

121



entered into in accordance with the Council’s Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

6.1 Chris Pike
Estate Surveyor
Chris.pike@southkesteven.gov.uk

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on Wednesday 27 March 2019 date effective will be Friday 
5 April 2019.

122



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is given to carry out roof repair works to the former 
Stamford Museum, Broad Street, Stamford. The work to be carried 
out by Heritage Roofing services in the sum of £29,115 inclusive of 
VAT.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to award a contract to undertake urgent repair works to the 
roof and turret of the former Stamford Museum.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The Council owns the former Museum building on Broad Street, Stamford, 
which has been occupied since August 2017 by the Welland School of 
Dance.

The roof has deteriorated and water is penetrating the property, causing 
issues with its intended use and posing a health and safety risk.

The building was originally constructed around 1895; it is located centrally 
within Stamford and is Grade II listed. The property comprises 240m² GIA of 
accommodation over two floors. Constructed of limestone with a mixture of 
Collyweston and natural slate roofs, the property is in good repair internally, 
but is showing signs of major deterioration externally especially the roofs to 
the rear.

In order for the tenant to continue in occupation and the building to stay in 
good repair the Council must undertake repair works to re-roof the rear 
elevations of the former Stamford Museum, along with minor roof repairs to 
the front roof and repair / decoration of the roof turret. 

The former museum is situated in a conservation area and holds a Grade II 
listing; the works need to be carried out by a contractor that has experience 
of working with properties similar to this. Research for contractors in the area 
that are able to complete the works required in the specification were carried 
out. Three quotations were obtained and evaluated. The preferred quotation 
total cost estimate is £29,115 inclusive of VAT, this is based on cheapest 

123



price, contractor’s knowledge and experience, references and ability to carry 
out the repair.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The property is subject to a 5-year lease to Welland School of Dance from 
August 2017. The property is let on an internal repair basis, with South 
Kesteven District Council responsible for external repair. 

A condition survey undertaken in October 2017 noted that the roof would 
require attention within a year and there are now leaks causing disruption to 
the tenant’s occupation. It is understood some minor repairs and patching 
works have been undertaken in an effort to resolve previous issues but there 
are recurring leaks. Should the current disrepair be allowed to persist there is 
a significant risk the tenant will start to withhold their rent and further damage 
could be caused to the interior of the property.

Recent inspection has identified water staining to the ceiling in a number of 
places. The rear roof elevations have numerous slipped or missing slates, 
which are likely to be the cause of the leaks. It is deemed a false economy to 
try to replace the slipped tiles alone because the roof has been patched so 
often it now needs more comprehensive attention to bring it up to an 
adequate standard of repair. Much of the rear guttering is in a poor state of 
repair and will be repaired or replaced where necessary as part of this 
estimate. As the scaffolding is a significant proportion of the cost, it makes 
economic sense to do all these works at the same time.

Water is entering the premises whenever there is hard rainfall, which causes 
puddling on the wooden dance floor, which cost c. £40k to install. The water 
ingress has already caused an isolated area of the timber floor to warp, for 
which the school have advised they will be seeking compensation. 

Due to the height of the roof and location of the building there is a 
requirement for a design scaffold to be used to gain access and undertake 
the repairs. Planners were consulted on the works and confirmed the repairs 
would need to be like for like in terms of the materials, due to the listing and 
location within a conservation area. 

Natural welsh slate tiles will be used to replace any existing tiles on the rear 
elevations where the existing tiles are unable to be reclaimed. We have 
obtained three estimates for work. 

Three quotes were received as follows:

Quote A - £50,000.00 (excluding VAT)
Quote B - £35,000.00 estimated (initial £3,500 investigational works)
Quote C - £29,115.00 (inclusive of VAT)

124



Quote A was unsuccessful due to the cost (higher price) and Quote B 
due to uncertainty on price and not fulfilling the requirements of the 
specification as set.

Quote C was submitted by a local heritage roofing company who have 
worked on numerous buildings in the area and have a good record of 
accomplishment with buildings of this age.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Business Transformation and 
Commissioning

Date of Decision: 27 March 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 28 March 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

6 April 2019

125



This page is intentionally left blank



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Nick Neilson
Cabinet Member for Housing

REPORT AUTHOR: Head of Environmental

REPORT NO. ENV715

DATE: 28 March 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Amendment to Private Sector Housing Assistance 
Policy – Independent Living

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Housing

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

Minor

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: Decision Details - Temporary Revision to Private Sector 

Housing Assistance Policy - Independent Living, 5 November 
2018

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 In November 2018, the Cabinet Member for Housing approved a temporary 
revision to the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – Independent Living 
until 1 April 2019.  This removed the requirement for a means test and local land 

127

Appendix 6

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=966
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=966


charge in respect of applications for disabled facilities grants for stair lifts and 
modular access ramps.

1.2 The temporary revision has allowed the demand for this grant funding and the 
effectiveness of the revision in supporting independent living to be assessed.

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 It is recommended that the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – 
Independent Living is amended to remove the means test and local land charge 
in respect of applications for discretionary disabled facilities grants for stair lifts 
and modular access ramps.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 The Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy - Independent Living was 
approved by Cabinet on 12 October 2017 and delegated authority given to the 
Cabinet Member for Housing to make any minor amendments to the policy that 
may be required to support its continued effectiveness.

3.2 The temporary revision of the Policy has had the effect of reducing the average 
time taken to process applications for stairlifts and modular access ramps from 
20 weeks to 8 weeks (taken from receipt of a recommendation for an adaptation 
from an Occupational Therapist (OT) to the adaptation being installed). This 
supports disabled people to live independently sooner, reduces reliance on 
carers and helps prevent avoidable hospital admissions due to falls.

3.3 The demand during the temporary revision period has been managed within the 
existing disabled facilities grant budget.  The average approved grant value was 
£3132. 

3.4 As with all discretionary grants detailed in the Policy, the Council is not obliged 
to provide financial assistance.  Where assistance is provided, it can be 
withdrawn where funding is no longer available.  In these instances, the Council 
is still required to fulfil its statutory duty to provide Mandatory Disabled Facilities 
Grants under the terms of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration 
Act 1996.  

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The financial implications arising from this report are included in the existing
budgetary resources.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 Article 3 of the Regulatory reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales)
Order 2002 provides the power for local authorities to provide financial
assistance for home repair, improvement and adaptation. However, a local

128



housing authority may not exercise the power conferred by Article 3 unless
they have:

a. adopted a policy for the provision of assistance under that article;
b. given public notice of the adoption of the policy;
c. secured that a document in which the policy is set out in full is
available for inspection, free of charge, at their principal office at all
reasonable times; and d. the power is exercised in accordance with that
policy.

Accordingly, notice must be given to the public of any variation to the existing
Policy.

(6) APPENDICIES

6.1 Appendix 1 – Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – Independent Living 
with proposed amendments.

(7) OFFICER CONTACT

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental
e-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
telephone: 01476 406319

(8) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on Thursday 28 March date effective will be 6 April 
subject to no call-in being implemented.

129



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 

Independent Living 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Providing assistance under the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) 

Order 2002 

Date  Version Approver Comments 

12 October 2017 1 Cabinet Policy approved 

5 October 2018 2 Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

Temporary amendment to 1 April 2019 to 
remove means test and local land charge 
for stair lifts and modular access ramps 

1 April 2019 2.1 Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

Amendment to remove means test and 
local land charge for stair lifts and 
modular access ramps 

 

Deleted: ¶

131



2 
 

1.0 Background 

 

The suitability of the home is integral to meeting the needs of our residents.  A 

home which enables them to live independently or supports others to provide 

safe and effective care contributes to the promotion of physical and emotional 

health and wellbeing and supports a full and active life.   

Helping residents to make the right housing choices for their needs and 

providing support to make the home safe can help reduce hospital admissions 

or re-admissions, reduce reliance on care and support, improve wellbeing and 

help maintain independence in the home.  One of the ways of doing this is by 

providing financial assistance to support those choices or adapt the homes of 

disabled and vulnerable people enabling them to live safely.  

The population of South Kesteven is increasing, with the number of older 

people expected to increase dramatically over the next 15 years.  The 

prevalence of disability increases with age and as the District has an ageing 

population demand for adaptations is likely to increase. The majority of housing 

is not designed with elderly and disabled people in mind, and whilst some 

people have disabilities from a young age, most do not become aware of 

problems with their home until their circumstances change through illness, 

accident or growing frailty in older life.   

This policy explains how South Kesteven District Council will use its resources 

to assist residents in need of support to maintain independence in the home, 

reduce the need for support from social care and health services and/or prevent 

further deterioration in their conditions.   The assistance may be in the form of 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants or discretionary assistance, which  

enables the Council to deal with immediate health and safety concerns swiftly 

and appropriately.   With the exception of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants, 

all of the assistance provided under this policy is at the discretion of the Council 

and subject to available resources.  If demand for discretionary assistance 

exceeds the available budget the assistance will be suspended.  In these 

instances the Council does not undertake to maintain a waiting list.  

This policy will be reviewed as necessary to take into account changes to 

legislation and policies at local and national level, but in any case, will be 

reviewed every 4 years in line with the time period of the Council’s Housing 

Strategy.  

 

 

 

2.0 Legal Framework 

132



3 
 

The main legislation governing the provision of Disabled Facilities Grants 

(DFGs) is the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  This 

places a statutory duty on local housing authorities to provide grant assistance 

to qualifying disabled people to undertake a range of adaptations to their homes 

which are deemed “necessary and appropriate” to meet their needs and it is 

“reasonable and practicable” to undertake the adaptations having regard to the 

age and condition of the dwelling.   The grant is subject to a means test (except 

in the case of children) and works must be eligible as defined by the Act and 

Regulations.  The maximum grant available is £30,000. 

The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 

(“the RRO”) gives local authorities the power to provide assistance (either 

directly or indirectly) to any person for the purpose of improving living conditions 

in the local authority area provided this is given in accordance with a published 

policy. 

 

In accordance with the RRO, this policy has been adopted by South Kesteven 

District Council and includes details of: 

 

a. The types of assistance the Council may make available 

b. The eligibility conditions for the assistance 

c. The amount of assistance available  

d. The conditions that will apply to the provision of the assistance 

e. The circumstances when repayment may be required 

 

 

3.0 Strategic Context 

 

In April 2015 the Government made significant changes to the funding 

mechanism for disabled facilities grants by making the allocation part of the 

Better Care Fund (BCF);  a pooled budget between the NHS and upper tier 

councils.  The aim of the fund is to provide more joined-up and customer 

focused services to reduce hospital and care admissions and enable people to 

return from hospital more quickly.   

 

The Care Act 2014 established a requirement that a needs assessment must 

be carried out where it appears to the social care authority that a person for 

whom they may provide or arrange community care services, may be in need 

of such services.  The associated guidance states that the care and support 

system must actively promote wellbeing and independence and aim to prevent 

need, not just wait to respond when people reach a crisis point. 

Aligned to this, the NHS 5 Year Forward View (2014) noted that a key condition 

for transformation across local health economies is a strong primary and out-

133



4 
 

of-hospital care system, with well-developed planning about how to provide 

care in people’s own homes, with a focus on prevention, promoting 

independence and support to stay well.  

Home adaptations and essential repairs for disabled and vulnerable people 

support these requirements as they can:  

• Enable independence at home 

• Speed up hospital discharge/reduce readmission 

• Prevent escalation of need e.g. accidents and falls 

• Support maintenance of physical and mental well-being 

It is clear that home adaptations can contribute to meeting a range of Public 

Health, NHS and Social Care outcomes.  While the housing law relating to the 

provision of grants for disabled adaptations has not changed, there is scope for 

local innovation in delivery and opportunities to consider how home adaptations 

can better support housing, health and social care to achieve improved health 

and wellbeing outcomes for those with care and support needs.    

 

4.0 Priority Areas and Evidence  

 

This policy aligns with the South Kesteven District Council Housing Strategy 

outcome to enable independent living, by supporting those whose 

independence may be at risk to access housing (including their current home) 

which meets their needs.    

 

The focus on prevention, with the suitability of the home being a core 

component of health and wellbeing is central to supporting an integrated 

approach.      

Nationally, almost ⅓ of people aged 65 and over, and ½ of people aged 80 and 

over fall each year, with the home being the most common place for a fall.   Falls 

account for between 10 and 25% of ambulance call outs for the over 65s, 

costing around £115 per call out.   Older people who fall are likely to suffer a 

repeat fall and in most cases require recurrent use of health and social care 

services. Recurrent fallers are also more prone to have a fall-related fracture; 

the health cost associated with hip fractures alone is estimated at £6 million per 

day or £2.3 billion per year.  

In addition, falls are one of the major reasons for people to move from their own 

home to residential care, again increasing social care costs and impacting on 

independence.  The overall effect of increasing personal wellbeing, preventing 

accidents and reducing strain on carers means that the cost savings to health 

and social care of preventing falls are potentially extremely high.  A package of 

134



5 
 

relatively low cost adaptations could reduce falls and may delay hospital 

admissions. 

Many chronic health conditions experienced by people, particularly older 

people, have a causal link to, or are exacerbated by poor housing. Frail and 

older people experience poorer physical and mental health and higher risk of 

mortality, while babies and young children have an increased risk of respiratory 

problems.  The annual cost to the NHS of treating disease due to cold private 

housing has been estimated at over £850 million (at 2009 costs). This does not 

include additional spending by social services, or economic losses through 

absences from work.  Health risks associated with cold homes include; 

increased respiratory illness, worsening of asthma, chronic obstructive 

pulmonary disease, worsening of arthritis, increased blood pressure and risk of 

heart attacks and stroke.   A cold home also increases the risk of falls and 

accidents as strength and dexterity decreases at lower temperatures.  Making 

homes weather safe, wind and weather proof, alongside ensuring suitable 

indoor temperatures can be maintained could reduce symptoms or instances 

of illness.  

 

5.0 Types of Assistance 

 

The provision of assistance other than Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants is 

subject to the availability of funding.  Housing options advice will be provided in 

all cases to ensure that the right option for the household is being considered. 

This may include information about entitlement to benefits, third party funding 

options e.g. charities, energy efficiency and signposting to other services and 

agencies.  

A summary of the available assistance is provided below.  Full details of each 

type of assistance and associated conditions are in Appendix A.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Type of 
assistance 

M
e

an
s 

Te
st

 

Lo
ca

l 
La

n
d

 

C
h

ar
ge

 

Mandatory/ 
Discretionary 

Key Outcome Max. 
Funding 

135



6 
 

Disabled 
Facilities 
Grant (DFG) 

Y Y Mandatory 

Adaptations to 
enable 
independent 
living 

£30,000 

DFG top-up Y Y Discretionary 

Top up of 
mandatory DFG 
which exceeds 
grant limit 

£10,000 

Disabled 
Adaptation 
Assistance 

N Y Discretionary 

Minor 
adaptations for 
those eligible for 
a DFG without 
means testing 

£7,000 

Moving on 
Assistance 

Y Y Discretionary 

Financial 
assistance to 
move to more 
suitable 
accommodation 

£10,000 

Hospital 
Discharge 
Assistance 

N Y Discretionary 

Prevent Delayed 
Transfers of Care 
associated with 
housing disrepair 
or access issues 

£10,000 

Safe, Warm 
and Well 

Y Y Discretionary 

Minor essential 
repairs to make 
homes safe for 
vulnerable owner 
occupiers 

£8,000 

Dementia 
Aids and 
Adaptations 

N N Discretionary 

Enable people 
with a diagnosis 
of dementia to 
manage their 
surroundings and 
retain their 
independence. 

£750 

Stair Lifts and 
Modular 
Ramps 

N N Discretionary 

Provision of a 
stair lift and/or 
modular ramp for 
those who meet 
DFG criteria 
without means 
testing 

£7,000  

 

5.1 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 

136



7 
 

The Council will continue to provide assistance to those who qualify for a DFG 

as laid down in legislation.  The adaptations funded will be considered as being 

the most appropriate, reasonable and cost effective way of meeting the 

assessed needs of the disabled person up to the maximum grant of £30,000.  

Where the applicant/ disabled person  wishes to carry out works to the property 

which are over and above those assessed by the Occupational Therapist (OT), 

the Council may, in circumstances where the alternative is considered 

appropriate and will meet the assessed needs of the disabled person,  offer 

financial assistance up to the  value of the assessed need.   

5.2 Top Up of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 

This assistance of up to £10,000 may be available in conjunction with a 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant where the cost of the eligible works 

exceeds the current mandatory limit of £30,000. 

The applicant’s ability to afford the excess over the mandatory grant amount 

will be assessed by carrying out a means test of their resources.  This will 

include a means test of the resources of parents/guardians of disabled children 

applying for discretionary DFG top-up funding. 

5.3 Discretionary Disabled Adaptations Assistance 

This provides non means tested financial assistance for disabled people for 

minor works with a value up to £7,000 that would be eligible for a mandatory 

disabled facilities grant.   

5.4 Moving on Assistance 

This assistance enables disabled people who would be eligible for a Mandatory 

Disabled Facilities Grant to move to more suitable accommodation where it is 

considered more appropriate than providing funding through a Mandatory 

Disabled Facilities Grant to adapt their existing home.    This funding of up to 

£10,000 may be used in conjunction with a Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 

to undertake eligible works to the new property. 

This may include circumstances where the existing accommodation is not 

reasonably and practicably capable of being adapted to meet the needs of the 

disabled person. 

 

 

5.5 Hospital Discharge Assistance 

137



8 
 

This assistance is for people in hospital awaiting discharge back to their home, 

and provides up to £10,000 to fund urgent adaptations that allow access in and 

around the person’s home.  Other minor works which are needed to facilitate 

their discharge from hospital will also be considered e.g. one off clearance of 

hoarded properties and works to heating systems.  

5.6  Safe, Warm and Well 

This assistance is for owner occupiers over the age of 65, or those with chronic 

or severe health conditions affected by poor housing conditions (verified by a 

GP or medical professional), who need to undertake essential repairs to their 

home in order to remain safe and healthy.  Essential repairs are determined as 

a Category 1 (serious) or significant Category 2 (other) hazards as determined 

by the Housing Act 2004.  The maximum available funding is £8,000. 

Applicants must be in receipt of a qualifying benefit or have an annual 

household income after tax of below £23,250 

5.7 Dementia Aids and Adaptations 

This assistance provides aids and minor adaptations to the home which are 

designed to enable people diagnosed with dementia to manage their 

surroundings and maintain their independence.  The assistance is limited to 

£750 and not subject to a means test. 

5.8 Stair lifts and Modular Access Ramps 

Provides non means tested assistance for the installation of a stair lift and / or 

modular ramp where the person that meets the non-financial eligibility criteria 

for a mandatory disabled facilities grant.  The assistance is limited to a 

maximum of £7,000 per item.  

 

6.0 Eligibility Criteria and Conditions 

6.1 In this policy the term “assistance” means any form of financial assistance 

approved for the purpose of housing renewal, maintenance, improvement or 

adaptation.  “Condition” means any condition attached to any such assistance.   

Any reference to “owner” or “person responsible” is taken to mean any owner 

or other person who is responsible for the relevant conditions either singly or 

jointly.  This includes the original person who applied for or received the 

assistance, as well as any other person who has subsequently become 

responsible for any condition as a result of acquiring the property or an interest 

in it. 

6.2 The specific criteria for each form of assistance are detailed in appendix A.   

However, the following conditions will apply in all cases: 

138



9 
 

a. Where stated, any financial assistance and related conditions will be 

secured as a legal charge against the property. A breach of conditions 

requires the repayment of all or part of the assistance.  This charge will 

not be removed until either the conditions expire or until the assistance 

is re-paid together with any interest or additional charges that may apply.   

b. A charge against the property is binding on any person who is for the 

time being an owner of the premises concerned.  Where a condition is 

broken, the Council has the usual powers and remedies in law to enforce 

the charge and secure payment of any amount due. 

c. Where any condition is in force, the Council may require the responsible 

person to provide any information to satisfy the Council that the condition 

is being complied with.  The Council can require this information in 

writing or in other reasonable form.  It is a condition that this information 

is provided in the form required within a reasonable timescale as 

specified by the Council and as fully, accurately and honestly as 

reasonably practicable.  Failure to comply with this requirement is a 

breach of conditions in itself and the assistance, or part of the assistance 

where specified, must be re-paid to the Council. 

d. It is for the person responsible for complying with any condition to 

demonstrate to the Council’s satisfaction that the condition is being 

complied with. Failure to do so will be treated as failure to comply with 

the condition.  The Council does not have the burden of having to prove 

that the condition is not being complied with.  

e. Conditions will generally be enforced in all cases.  Money repaid or 

recovered will be recycled back into the housing renewal capital 

programme. 

f. The approval of assistance does not give or imply the Council’s approval 

of any other consent that may be required, such as planning permission 

or building regulation consent.  It is the responsibility of the applicant to 

obtain any such consent as may be required.     

6.3   Any person making an application for assistance must: 

a. Be over the age of 18 years on the date of application 

b. Live in the dwelling which is subject to the application as their sole main 

residence 

c. Live within the district of South Kesteven.  

 

 

6.4   Persons will not be eligible for assistance in the following circumstances: 

a. Where ownership of the dwelling is disputed 

139



10 
 

b. Where the owner of the property has a statutory duty to undertake the 

necessary works to the dwelling and it is reasonable for them to do so. 

c. Where the proposed works would normally be covered by buildings 

insurance.  If before a grant is approved it is found that the applicant has 

submitted an insurance claim, the insurance company will be asked to 

confirm in writing the extent of the claim and their liability, if any.  The 

value of any housing assistance will be reduced by the amount 

equivalent to the insurance company’s liability. 

d. Where works have started before the formal approval of an application, 

except where in exceptional circumstances a defect may present a 

serious risk to health and safety. 

e. Where the proposed works are to repair any shed, outbuildings or 

appurtenances. 

f. Incomplete applications or applications lacking sufficient information will 

be refused. 

6.5 All cases will be considered on a case by case basis.  Incomplete applications 

or applications lacking sufficient information will be refused.  

6.6 Enquiries about how the policy is operated should be referred to the Head of 

Environmental in the first instance.  Appeals must be made in writing and detail 

the specific grounds on which the appeal is based.  

 

7.0  Making an Application and Payment of Assistance  

Applications must be made in writing on the appropriate form and must include 

original documentation where requested.   An application will only be 

considered complete once all of the relevant documentation has been provided.  

 

The Council may charge a fee for any professional services or charges incurred 

relating to the work for which the assistance is being sought e.g. obtaining proof 

of ownership, drawing of plans etc. This fee will be incorporated into the total 

assistance amount.   

The Council will make arrangements for contractors to undertake works, 

however, the contract agreement is between the applicant and contractor; the 

Council will not be liable for disputes arising between the parties. If the applicant 

elects to use their own contractor they must submit at least 2 written quotations 

from different contractors.   

In the event of any disputes between the applicant and the contractor the 

Council will help to resolve these, however should this not be possible it may 

be necessary for the applicant to seek legal advice to remedy any dispute.      

 

140



11 
 

The Council will normally arrange for grant payments to be made directly to 

contractors upon completion of works.  

 

 

8.0   Maintenance and Repair  

 

The quality of work undertaken by contractors appointed by the Council is 

guaranteed for a period of 12 months.  Some of the individual items may have 

their own extended warranties that are provided by the manufacturer.  It is the 

applicant’s responsibility to ensure that any extended warranties are applied for 

in accordance with the manufacturer’s guarantee.  Copies of 

guarantees/warranties will be provided to the applicant after completion of the 

works.    

 

The Council is not responsible for the ongoing maintenance or repair of any 

items.   

 

9.0 Data Protection 

All data will be held in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 

The Council may investigate or formally verify any of the information provided 

in connection with any application for assistance. 

In order to progress an application it may be necessary to share information 

provided with other organisations that may assist with the grant process. These 

may include: 

Lincolnshire County Council – Adult Social Care or Children’s Services 
Lincolnshire Home Independence Agency or other Agencies appointed by 
applicants 
Relevant Government Departments 

 
The Council is under a duty to protect public funds and may use the information 

provided for the prevention and detection of fraud.  It may also share this 

information with other bodies administering public funds solely for these 

purposes.  

 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 – Details and Conditions of Assistance 

 

1. Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 

141



12 
 

2. Top Up of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 

3. Discretionary Disabled Adaptations Assistance 

4. Moving on Assistance 

5. Hospital Discharge Assistance 

6. Safe, Warm and Well 

7. Dementia Aids and Adaptations 

8. Stair Lifts and Modular Access Ramps 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 

 

142



13 
 

Purpose:   Local housing authorities have a statutory duty to provide grant 

aid to disabled people to undertake a range of adaptations to their 

homes.   

 

Mandatory disabled facilities grants will be administered in 

accordance with the provisions of the Housing Grants, 

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.   The following provides 

a summary of these provisions, but should be read in conjunction 

with the full Act.  

 

Maximum amount: The maximum amount is £30,000. 

 

Applicant eligibility: All applicants must be eligible under the Act.   Applications must 

be supported by a referral from an Occupational Therapist 

confirming that the person is disabled for the purposes of the Act 

and that the proposed works are necessary and appropriate to 

meet the needs of the disabled person.    

 

Eligible works: The relevant works must be necessary and appropriate to meet 

the needs of the disabled occupant and it must be reasonable and 

practicable to carry out the works having regard to the age and 

condition of the property. The purposes for which a grant must be 

give are detailed in section 23 of the Housing Grants Construction 

and Regeneration Act 1996. 

 

Financial  

assessment: The grant is subject to a means test in accordance with the 

Housing Renewal Grants Regulations 1996, to determine the 

customer’s contribution towards the cost of the works.  The 

maximum grant including any contribution must not exceed 

£30,000. 

 

Application: Applications must be made on the relevant form and supported 

by a referral from an Occupational Therapist.   The Council will 

consult the Social Services Authority on all applications.  

 

 Applications may be made by owner occupiers, private tenants 

and Registered Social Landlord Tenants.  In the case of tenants, 

the landlord may make an application on their behalf.    

  

 The Council will normally appoint a contractor, however, where 

the applicant chooses to use their own contractor, a minimum of 

two estimates must be submitted with the application.  

 

143



14 
 

 Works must not commence until formal approval of the grant has 

been received by the applicant.  

 

Payment: Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory 

completion of the eligible works and approval of invoices.    In 

some instances payments may be made in instalments and the 

balance (no less than 10% of the total cost of the eligible works) 

paid on satisfactory completion.  

The applicant must agree that they are satisfied with the quality 

of the work prior to payment.   If the applicant refuses, the Council 

will inspect the work and if it believes it is of sufficiently good 

standard the payment will be made.     

 

Conditions: The Council may remove items of equipment e.g. modular ramps 

and stair lifts from the property for re-use when they are no longer 

required by the disabled person.  This will be considered on a 

case by case basis dependent on the age and condition of the 

item.  Where the items are not considered appropriate for re-use 

it will be the responsibility of the householder/property owner to 

remove any items at their own cost. 

 

 Where the Council provides funding in excess of £5,000 that 

creates additional living space e.g. an extension or conversion of 

a garage or outbuilding, and where the applicant has an owner’s 

interest in the property, this will be registered as a local land 

charge against the adapted property, subject to a maximum of 

£10,000.  If the property is disposed of within 10 years of the 

completion of the works (as determined by the Council), re-

payment of the amount will be required.  

 

The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out 

without prior approval. 

 

 All works must be completed within 12 months of approval.  

 

 

 

 

2. Top Up of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 

 

Purpose: To provide discretionary financial assistance to a disabled person 

who qualifies for a mandatory disabled facilities grant where the 

144



15 
 

cost of the eligible works exceeds the mandatory grant maximum 

of £30,000.    

 

Maximum amount: The maximum top up is £10,000. 

  

Applicant eligibility: Applicants must have an owner’s interest in the property and the 

disabled person (if different) must qualify for a mandatory 

disabled facilities grant where the value of the eligible works 

(including the client contribution and any fees if applicable) 

exceeds the mandatory grant maximum.   

 

Eligible works: Works funded by the top up must be eligible works which are 

necessary and appropriate to meet the disabled person’s needs 

as defined by the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration 

Act 1996. 

 

Financial  

assessment: The top up will be means tested using the prescribed test of 

resources applicable to mandatory disabled facilities grants. 

Where the disabled person is a child, the parents/guardians will 

be means tested. 

 

Applications: Applications will be considered alongside an application for a 

mandatory disabled facilities grant.  

 

Payment: The discretionary top up will be paid as an additional amount to 

the mandatory disabled facilities grant under the same payment 

conditions. 

 

Conditions: The amount of the discretionary top up will be secured by 

attaching a local land charge on the adapted property.  If the 

property is disposed of within 10 years of the completion of the 

works (as determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount 

will be required. 

 

Works must not commence until formal approval of the 

discretionary assistance and mandatory grant have been 

received by the applicant. 

 

 

3. Discretionary Disabled Adaptations Assistance 

 

Purpose: To provide discretionary financial assistance for disabled 

occupants who do not have the financial resources to pay for 

145



16 
 

necessary adaptations to help support them to remain 

independent in their home.  The discretionary assistance will fund 

minor works for those eligible for a mandatory disabled facilities 

grant. 

     

Maximum amount: The maximum amount of assistance is £7,000.  

 

Applicant eligibility: The disabled occupant must be eligible under the provisions of 

the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  

Applications must be supported by a referral from a Lincolnshire 

County Council Occupational Therapist.  

 

Eligible works: The relevant works must be necessary and appropriate to meet 

the needs of the disabled occupant and it must be reasonable and 

practicable to carry out the works having regard to the age and 

condition of the property. The purposes for which a grant may be 

given are those detailed in section 23 of the Housing Grants 

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996. Any associated fees 

e.g. technical surveys, obtaining proof of title etc will be included 

in the total assistance amount.   

 

Financial  

assessment: This assistance is not subject to a means test. 

 

Payment: Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory 

completion of the eligible works and approval of invoices.  The 

applicant must agree that they are satisfied with the quality of the 

work prior to payment.   If the applicant refuses, the Council will 

inspect the work and if it believes it is of sufficiently good standard 

the payment will be made.    

 
Conditions: The Council may remove items of equipment e.g. modular ramps 

and stair lifts from the property when they are no longer required 

by the disabled person for re-use.  This will be considered on a 

case by case basis dependent on the age and condition of the 

item.  Where the items are not considered appropriate for re-use 

it will be the responsibility of the householder/property owner to 

remove any such items at their own cost. 

 

 Only one application for discretionary assistance will be 

considered in any 12 month period (taken from date of approval).  

 

146



17 
 

 Where the applicant has an owner’s interest in the property, the 

amount of the discretionary funding will be secured by attaching 

a local land charge on the adapted property.  If the property is 

disposed of within 10 years of the completion of the works (as 

determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be 

required.  This will be reduced by 10% for each complete year.  

 

The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out 

without prior approval. 

 

Where the discretionary funding is no longer available, 

applications will be considered under the provisions of a 

mandatory disabled facilities grant.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Moving on Assistance 

 

Purpose: This discretionary assistance enables disabled people who would 

be eligible for a mandatory disabled facilities grant to move to 

147



18 
 

more suitable accommodation, where it is considered more 

appropriate than providing funding through a mandatory disabled 

facilities grant to adapt their existing home. 

     

Maximum amount: The maximum amount is £10,000 and may be used in conjunction 

with a mandatory disabled facilities grant to undertake eligible 

works to the new property. 

 

Applicant eligibility: Any disabled person who would be eligible for adaptation works 

under a mandatory disabled facilities grant 

Qualifying criteria: A referral for adaptation of the existing property must have been 

received from an Occupational Therapist. 

In the Council’s opinion, the existing property must be unsuitable 

for adaptation, in that it is not reasonably and practicably capable 

of being adapted to meet the needs of the disabled person. 

The applicant must have or propose to have an owner’s interest 

in new property.  The existing and new properties must be within 

South Kesteven District Council’s area, and be the permanent, 

main residence of the disabled occupant.    

In the opinion of the Council and in conjunction with the 

Occupational Therapist, the new property must be considered 

suitable for the needs of the disabled person or must be 

reasonably and practicably capable of being adapted to meet the 

needs of the disabled person.   

The assistance can be used for the following eligible costs: 

• Legal and ancillary fees 

• Estate agent fees 

• Removal costs 

 

Financial  

assessment: The assistance is subject to the prescribed test of resources 

applicable to mandatory disabled facilities grants. Where the 

disabled person is a child, the parents/legal guardians will be 

means tested.  

 

Payment: Payment will be made to the applicant’s solicitor on exchange of 

contract so that funding is available for completion.   Evidence of 

the fees will be required prior to payment.  

 

148



19 
 

Conditions:  This discretionary assistance may only be awarded once. 

Where an award has been made under this policy and prior to the 

exchange of contacts and the disabled person is no longer able 

to relocate to the new property e.g. they have moved into 

permanent care or deceased, the Council may decide to pay all, 

some or none of the assistance.  

The amount of the discretionary funding will be secured by 

attaching a local land charge on the new property.  If the property 

is disposed of within 10 years of the completion of the purchase 

(as determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be 

required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Hospital Discharge Assistance 

Purpose: This assistance is for people in hospital whose discharge is 

delayed due to the condition of their home.  The assistance may 

fund urgent adaptations that allow access in and around the 

149



20 
 

person’s home by providing stair lifts or ramps.  Other minor 

works which are needed to facilitate their discharge from hospital 

will also be considered e.g. one off clearance of hoarded 

properties and works to heating systems.  

Maximum amount: The maximum grant is £10,000 

 

Applicant eligibility: The applicant must be in hospital and their discharge delayed.  

  

The application must be accompanied by a referral from a hospital 

Occupational Therapist or other suitably qualified professional 

confirming the urgent works that are required to the home to 

enable discharge. 

 

The property subject to the application must normally be occupied 

by the applicant on a permanent basis.   

 

Eligible works:  Eligible works include: 

• Stair lifts 

• Ramps and door widening to the essential doorways 

• Heating repairs or improvements 

• Clearance and one off deep clean of hoarded goods 

Other works will be considered which will facilitate the hospital 

discharge on a case by case basis.  

   

Financial  

assessment: This assistance is not subject to a means test 

 

Payment: The Council will appoint contractors to undertake the work and 

will pay them directly on production of satisfactory invoices.  The 

applicant must agree that they are satisfied with the quality of the 

work prior to payment.   If the applicant refuses, the Council will 

inspect the work and if it believes it is of sufficiently good standard 

the payment will be made.    

 
Conditions: If the cost of the works exceeds the maximum financial assistance 

the Council will liaise with the Occupational Therapist and/or 

relevant professionals to determine the priority works.   

The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out 

without prior approval. 

 

150



21 
 

Where the applicant has an owner’s interest in the property, the 

amount of the discretionary funding will be secured by attaching 

a local land charge on the adapted property.  If the property is 

disposed of within 10 years of the completion of the works (as 

determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be 

required.  This will be reduced by 10% for each complete year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6. Safe, Warm and Well 

Purpose:  This assistance is for owner occupiers over the age of 65, or those 

with chronic or severe health conditions affected by poor housing 

conditions who need to undertake essential repairs to their home 

in order to remain safe and healthy.   

151



22 
 

Maximum amount: The maximum amount is £8,000. 

 

Applicant eligibility: The applicant must be an owner occupier or private tenant with a 

full repairing responsibility. 

  

 The applicant must be over the age of 65 or have a chronic or 

severe condition exacerbated by the cold or poor housing 

conditions.  Evidence of the condition will be required e.g. 

letter/referral from a General Practitioner or other relevant health 

professional.  Examples of relevant conditions include: 

 

• Arthritis (osteo and rheumatoid, requiring regular 

treatment and review) 

• Cardiovascular disease (for example heart disease or 

stroke) 

• Respiratory disease (for example chronic bronchitis, 

severe asthma, emphysema or chronic obstructive 

pulmonary disease)  

 

Eligible works: Essential repairs are determined as a Category 1 (serious) or 

significant Category 2 (other) hazards as determined by the 

Housing Act 2004, which affects the ability of the property to be 

safe, wind and weather proof.  Examples of works may include: 

 

• Heating repairs or replacement 

• Works to prevent falls  

• Roof repairs 

Any associated fees e.g. technical surveys, obtaining proof of title 

etc will be included in the total assistance amount.  

All properties will be subject to inspection and assessment by the 

Council or its agent. 

 

 

 

Financial  
assessment: Applicants must or have an annual household income after tax of 

below £23,250 or be in receipt of one of the following Benefits: 

 
• Income Support  

152



23 
 

• Income-based Employment and Support Allowance (not 

contribution-based ESA)  

• Income-based Jobseeker's Allowance (not contribution-

based JSA)  

• Guarantee Pension Credit (not Savings Pension Credit 

alone)  

• Housing Benefit  

• Working Tax Credit and/or Child Tax Credit provided that 

the annual income for the purposes of assessing 

entitlement to the tax credit is less than £16,010 (or any 

other subsequent threshold set as part of Working/Child 

Tax Credit)  

• Universal Credit  

• Attendance Allowance (with an income of the applicant 

and their partner [if applicable] after tax, below £23,250) 

• Disability Living Allowance  (with an income of the 

applicant and their partner [if applicable] after tax, below 

£23,250) 

• Carers Allowance  (with an income of the applicant and 

their partner [if applicable] after tax, below £23,250) 

• Personal Independence Payment (with an income of the 

applicant and their partner [if applicable] after tax,  below 

£23,250) 

• War Disablement Pension (which must include a mobility 

supplement or constant attendance allowance) 

 

Payment: The Council will appoint a contractor to undertake the eligible 

works. Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon 

satisfactory completion of the eligible works and approval of 

invoices.  The applicant must agree that they are satisfied with 

the quality of the work prior to payment.   If the applicant refuses, 

the Council will inspect the work and it we believes it is of 

sufficiently good standard the payment will be made.   

 

Conditions: The applicant must have lived in the property for a minimum of 12 

months as their main residence. 

 

 Only one application for assistance will be considered within any 

3 year period (further applications may be considered at the 

discretion of the Service Manager, Environmental Health in 

exceptional circumstances). 

 

153



24 
 

 The Council will not consider applications in respect of dwellings 

which have been built or converted less than 10 years from the 

date of application.  

 

Where works beyond the maximum assistance value are 

identified, the assistance will be prioritised based upon the hazard 

score and circumstances of the applicant.  Works must be 

reasonable and practicable having regard to the age and 

condition of the property.  

 

The amount of the discretionary funding will be secured by 

attaching a local land charge on the new property.  If the property 

is disposed of within 10 years of the completion of the works (as 

determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be 

required. 

 

The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out 

without prior approval. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7. Dementia Aids and Adaptations 

 

Purpose: This assistance will provide aids and adaptations in the home 

designed to enable people with a diagnosis of dementia to 

manage their surroundings and retain their independence.  

154



25 
 

 

Maximum amount: The maximum funding is £750 

 

Applicant eligibility: Applicants must be owner occupiers or private tenants with a 

clinical diagnosis of dementia and referred by a General 

Practitioner, Dementia Support worker or other relevant health 

professional, confirming the works which are necessary and 

appropriate to support them to retain their independence.  

 

Eligible works: The Council will work with the relevant health professional to 

determine appropriate works on a case by case basis. This may 

include: contrasting coloured hand rails, thermostatic taps, 

lighting and door signage etc.  

  

Financial  

assessment:  This assistance is not subject to a means test 

 

Payment: The Council will appoint a contractor or work with a third party to 

undertake the eligible works. Payment will be made directly to the 

contractor upon satisfactory completion of the eligible works and 

approval of invoices.   

 

Conditions:  It must be reasonable and practicable to undertake the works. 

  

All works must relate to the applicants dementia needs and assist 

them to remain in their home independently for a longer period. 

 

   Only one application will be considered within any 3 year period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. Stair Lifts and Modular Access Ramps 

 

Purpose: To provide discretionary non-means tested funding for disabled 

people who meet the non-financial criteria for a Mandatory 

155



26 
 

Disabled Facilities Grant to install a stair lift and / or modular 

access ramp. 

 

Maximum amount: The maximum funding is £7000 per item. 

 

Applicant eligibility: The disabled occupant must be eligible under the provisions of 

the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  

Applications must be supported by a referral from a Lincolnshire 

County Council Occupational Therapist. 

 

Eligible works: The provision of a stair lift or modular access ramp (the “relevant 

works”) must be necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of 

the disabled occupant and it must be reasonable and practicable 

to carry out the works having regard to the age and condition of 

the property. The purposes for which a grant may be given are 

those detailed in section 23 of the Housing Grants Construction 

and Regeneration Act 1996. Any associated fees e.g. technical 

surveys, obtaining proof of title etc will be included in the total 

assistance amount.   

 

Financial  

assessment: This assistance is not subject to a means test. 

 

Payment: Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory 

completion of the eligible works and approval of invoices.  The 

applicant must agree that they are satisfied with the quality of the 

work prior to payment.   If the applicant refuses, the Council will 

inspect the work and if it believes it is of sufficiently good standard 

the payment will be made. 

 

Conditions: The Council may remove the items when they are no longer 

required by the disabled person for re-use.  This will be 

considered on a case by case basis dependent on the age and 

condition of the item.  Where the items are not considered 

appropriate for re-use it will be the responsibility of the 

householder/property owner to remove any such items at their 

own cost. 

 

 Only one stair lift and / or modular access ramp will be provided 

per property in any 12 month period (taken from the date of 

approval of the assistance)   

The Council will not pay for any additional works associated with 

the installation without prior approval. 

156



27 
 

Where this discretionary funding is no longer available, 

applications will be considered under the provisions of a 

mandatory disabled facilities grant or other discretionary funding 

that may be available.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

157



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is given for the Private Sector Housing Assistance 
Policy – Independent Living be amended to remove the means test 
and local land charge in respect of applications for discretionary 
disabled facilities grants for stair lifts and modular access ramps.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to amend the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – 
Independent Living to remove the means test and local land charge in 
respect of applications for discretionary disabled facilities grants for stair lifts 
and modular access ramps.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

In November 2018, the Cabinet Member for Housing approved a temporary 
revision to the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy – Independent Living 
until 1 April 2019.  This removed the requirement for a means test and local 
land charge in respect of applications for disabled facilities grants for stair lifts 
and modular access ramps.

The temporary revision has allowed the demand for this grant funding and the 
effectiveness of the revision in supporting independent living to be assessed.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy - Independent Living was 
approved by Cabinet on 12 October 2017 and delegated authority given to 
the Cabinet Member for Housing to make any minor amendments to the 
policy that may be required to support its continued effectiveness.

The temporary revision of the Policy has had the effect of reducing the 
average time taken to process applications for stairlifts and modular access 
ramps from 20 weeks to 8 weeks (taken from receipt of a recommendation for 
an adaptation from an Occupational Therapist (OT) to the adaptation being 
installed). This supports disabled people to live independently sooner, 
reduces reliance on carers and helps prevent avoidable hospital admissions 
due to falls.

159



The demand during the temporary revision period has been managed within 
the existing disabled facilities grant budget.  The average approved grant 
value was £3132. 

As with all discretionary grants detailed in the Policy, the Council is not 
obliged to provide financial assistance.  Where assistance is provided, it can 
be withdrawn where funding is no longer available.  In these instances, the 
Council is still required to fulfil its statutory duty to provide Mandatory 
Disabled Facilities Grants under the terms of the Housing Grants, 
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Nick Neilson
Cabinet Member for Housing

Date of Decision: 28 March 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 29 March 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

06 April 2019

160



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Cllr Adam Stokes
Cabinet member for Finance

REPORT AUTHOR: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources

REPORT NO. CFM491 

DATE: 14 March 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Authorisation to write off uncollectable non-domestic 
rate liabilities totalling £108,626.76

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: COUNCILLOR ADAM STOKES

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

N/A

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: None – information detailed within this report

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

To seek approval to write off uncollectable non-domestic rates as detailed within this 
report in accordance with the council’s financial regulations. 

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

The Cabinet Member for Finance is asked to approve the write offs as the debts have 
become uncollectable. 

161

Appendix 7

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

The debts, has detailed below, have become irrecoverable.

(i)
Debtor company: Genus (UK) Ltd              £43,112.46
Debt address: 26/27 Isaac Newton Centre

Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6EE

This company proposed a Company Voluntary Arrangement (CVA) which was 
subsequently approved by the requisite 75% percent of its creditors. The effect of the 
CVA is to render this debt irrecoverable.
 

(ii)
Debtor company: Ashley Paul Pub Co Ltd £30,285.24
Debt address: The Black Horse

Main Street
Baston
Peterborough
PE6 9PB

This company commenced trading in December 2015. Payment of non-domestic rates 
was not immediately forthcoming and recovery action was subsequently commenced. 
This resulted in a liability order being obtained before Lincoln Magistrates’ Court on 16 
May 2016. We instructed enforcement agents who collected payment in full. Recovery 
action was also instigated in respect of subsequent financial years and further liability 
orders were granted on 27 June 2016 and 19 July 2017. When payment arrangements 
were defaulted upon we again instructed enforcement agents. Unfortunately, the 
agents were unable to collect full payment or identify sufficient assets of the company 
to remove and sell. We therefore considered proceedings which would ultimately place 
the company into liquidation but this became unnecessary when it ceased to trade of 
its own volition in early April 2018. With no assets and no money to pay the debt it is 
considered to be irrecoverable.     

(iii)
Debtor company: New Era Italian & Continental Restaurant Ltd   £35,229.06
Debt address: 23 Westgate

Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6LU

Initially, this company had a manageable non-domestic rate liability based upon a 
rateable value entitling it to receive Small Business Rate Relief. This liability was paid 

162



by direct debit without any apparent issues. Subsequent retrospective amendments by 
the Valuation Office Agency (going back to April 2017) saw the rateable value more 
than treble, which resulted in a substantial backdated liability. Whilst a liability order 
was obtained before Lincoln Magistrates’ Court on 21 March 2018, officers from the 
Revenues Team worked with the company directors to ensure the continuance of trade 
whilst they appealed the revised assessment. An interim payment arrangement was 
agreed in the meantime. The company directors decided not to pursue an appeal and 
instead they vacated the property and ceased to trade. With no assets and no money 
to pay the debt it is considered to be irrecoverable.     

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

These write-offs will be allocated against the NNDR bad debt provision which will then 
be adjusted at year end to ensure there is sufficient provision for future year write-offs.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

The Council’s financial regulations require individual debts over £25,000 to be 
approved by the Cabinet member. The debts referred to in this report can no longer be 
recovered. 

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Richard Wyles
Assistant Director Resources
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on 4 April 2019 date effective will be 13 April 2019 
subject to no call-in being received.

163

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted to write off the uncollectable non-domestic 
rates in the sum of £108,626.76 as the debts have become 
uncollectable.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek authorisation to write off uncollectable non domestic rates in the sum 
of £108,626.76.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The Council’s financial regulations require individual debts over £25,000 to be 
approved by the Cabinet member. The debts referred to can no longer be 
recovered. 

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The debts, has detailed below, have become irrecoverable.

(i)
Debtor company: Genus (UK) Ltd              

£43,112.46
Debt address: 26/27 Isaac Newton Centre

Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6EE

This company proposed a Company Voluntary Arrangement (CVA) which 
was subsequently approved by the requisite 75% percent of its creditors. The 
effect of the CVA is to render this debt irrecoverable.
 
(ii)
Debtor company: Ashley Paul Pub Co Ltd

£30,285.24
Debt address: The Black Horse

Main Street
Baston
Peterborough

165



PE6 9PB

This company commenced trading in December 2015. Payment of non-
domestic rates was not immediately forthcoming and recovery action was 
subsequently commenced. This resulted in a liability order being obtained 
before Lincoln Magistrates’ Court on 16 May 2016. We instructed 
enforcement agents who collected payment in full. Recovery action was also 
instigated in respect of subsequent financial years and further liability orders 
were granted on 27 June 2016 and 19 July 2017. When payment 
arrangements were defaulted upon we again instructed enforcement agents. 
Unfortunately, the agents were unable to collect full payment or identify 
sufficient assets of the company to remove and sell. We therefore considered 
proceedings which would ultimately place the company into liquidation but 
this became unnecessary when it ceased to trade of its own volition in early 
April 2018. With no assets and no money to pay the debt it is considered to 
be irrecoverable.     

(iii)
Debtor company: New Era Italian & Continental Restaurant Ltd     

                                                                                        £35,229.06
Debt address: 23 Westgate

Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6LU

Initially, this company had a manageable non-domestic rate liability based 
upon a rateable value entitling it to receive Small Business Rate Relief. This 
liability was paid by direct debit without any apparent issues. Subsequent 
retrospective amendments by the Valuation Office Agency (going back to 
April 2017) saw the rateable value more than treble, which resulted in a 
substantial backdated liability. Whilst a liability order was obtained before 
Lincoln Magistrates’ Court on 21 March 2018, officers from the Revenues 
Team worked with the company directors to ensure the continuance of trade 
whilst they appealed the revised assessment. An interim payment 
arrangement was agreed in the meantime. The company directors decided 
not to pursue an appeal and instead they vacated the property and ceased to 
trade. With no assets and no money to pay the debt it is considered to be 
irrecoverable.     

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

166



Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

Date of Decision: 04 April 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 05 April 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

13 April 2019 

167



This page is intentionally left blank



1

NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet 
Member for Finance

REPORT AUTHOR: Richard Wyles – Assistant Director

REPORT NO. CFM490

DATE: 3 April 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Utilisation of the Invest To Save Reserve

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

N/A

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

N/a

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: N/a

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for use of the invest to save reserve to 
fund the following:

 £12k in order to fund a service review of Financial Services.
 £10k to fund the ‘internet of things’ initiative
 £40k to fund an advertising and sponsorship initiative 

169

Appendix 8

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


2

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

The Cabinet Member is asked to approve £62k from the Invest to Save reserve to 
fund the following initiatives:

 £12k in order to fund a service review of Financial Services.
 £10k to fund the ‘internet of things’ initiative
 £40k to fund an advertising and sponsorship initiative 

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

At the meeting on 31 January 2019, Council approved that utilisation of the invest to 
save reserve be delegated to the Cabinet member for Finance (in consultation with the 
s151 officer) in order to fund projects and initiatives that will deliver ongoing sustainable 
savings following a short term injection of funding.  The invest to save reserve is an 
established reserve that Council has approved that has been successful in providing 
funding for proposals that are identified during any financial year and provide the 
Council will a positive financial return.  The payback for such initiatives is typically 3 
years but can vary depending on the individual proposal.   This report recommends 
one-off funding for three new initiatives:

Financial Services Service Review

The Council has embarked on a corporate wide service review programme as an 
integral part of its transformation programme.  These reviews are designed to assess 
and analyse a number of elements of the respective service specifically value for 
money, cost analysis, customer focus, performance, strategic fit and behaviours that 
support the Corporate Strategy.  The proposal in this review is to temporarily engage 
an external partner to support and facilitate the review and to provide some peer 
challenge.  An external partner has been identified who has a wealth of experience in 
this regard and has worked with many authorities in order to modernise financial 
services to meet their organisational needs.  This review will lead to a delivery 
improvement plan that will be implemented following the conclusion of the review.  The 
review will also include the reduction of operational service costs via a combination of 
income generation (providing services to third parties) and cost reductions.  These will 
be delivered due to the automation and streamlining of processes.  Therefore, the 
review will ensure that the invest to save outlay is recouped within a one year period.  

Internet of Things Initiative

The proposal is to work in partnership with an external partner to setup a pilot project 
for the Internet of Things (IoT). The initial area is to develop is intelligent street lighting 
across the district. The proposal is to combine a LED lamp with Internet of Things 

170



3

sensors. This will create saving on the power with LED and also allow proactive 
monitoring of use, condition and other factors such as footfall monitoring and air quality.  
The proposal will also see the implementation of an IoT network which can then be 
utilised for future initiatives. However, at this stage it is not possible to quantify the 
savings that will be achieved but this will be identified as the work progresses.

Advertising and Sponsorship Initiative

South Kesteven District Council has worked with Publitas Consulting to complete an 
audit of advertising income received by the Council and the potential extent of 
opportunity within the local market. The audit report highlights an opportunity to make 
better use of Council assets to generate additional advertising revenue.

The audit highlights a range of income opportunities that could be available to the 
Council, depending on how the market responds and the sites that are included in the 
tender documentation. The projected maximum payback period for the invest to save 
reserve is 15 months based on the minimal income projections.

The proposal sees the Council utilise external expertise to support the procurement of 
specialist suppliers of advertising and sponsorship, implementation, management and 
sales. This will ensure revenue maximisation and the minimisation of risk to the 
Council. Procurement will be completed through an OJEU Tender, with competitive 
dialogue or negotiated procedure.

The timeline for the invest to save project is set out in the table below.

Milestone Target Period from Approval Date 
(months)

1. Agreeing Advertising Locations 1 month
2. Procurement Process / Tendering
3.

6 – 8 months

4. Contract Awarded 2 weeks
5. Supplier submits planning 

permissions etc. If approved, 
supplier builds new advert sites

5 months

6. Adverts start to run 2020 onwards
7. Council starts to receive revenue 2020 onwards

Publitas Consulting will assist with the end-to-end throughout the entire procurement 
up to award of contracts, ensuring all activity has a focus on maximising the revenue 
values achieved. It should be highlighted that the choice of procurement process is 
important. Publitas will bring to the table extensive experience from assisting other 
councils using many procurement routes.

Publitas will advise during the procurement process from an advertising market 
perspective, helping the council bespoke the entire process and documentation so as 
to maximise the potential revenue values. They will help the Council to decide on a 
commercial basis to determine which of the possible new advertising inventory items 
and locations are advantageous to tender.

171



4

A full detailed GIS analysis will be undertaken of identified areas / locations for potential 
advertising, in order to produce a detailed location and traffic-flow brief, which will form 
part of the ITT for bidders. Publitas will assist the Council to bespoke a complete suite 
of tender documentation with wording which will manage supplier expectations 
throughout the process to maximise their revenue offers.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

These are included in the report.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

The decision to utilise the Invest to Save Reserve is delegated to the Cabinet 
Member for Finance in accordance with the Council decision made on 31 January 
2019.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Richard Wyles – Assistant Director, Resources
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: 01476 406210 

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on 9 April 2019 date effective will be 18 April 2019 
subject to no call-in being received.

Decision taken on 12 April 2019 date effective will now be Thursday 25 
April 2019 subject to no call-in being received.

172

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk


CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted to use the £62K from the Invest to Save 
reserve to fund the following initiatives:

 £12k in order to fund a service review of Financial Services.
 £10k to fund the ‘internet of things’ initiative
 £40k to fund an advertising and sponsorship initiative 

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to approve £62k from the Invest to Save reserve. 

(2) Considerations/Evidence

At the meeting on 31 January 2019, Council approved that utilisation of the 
invest to save reserve be delegated to the Cabinet member for Finance (in 
consultation with the s151 officer) in order to fund projects and initiatives that 
will deliver ongoing sustainable savings following a short term injection of 
funding.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The invest to save reserve is an established reserve that Council has 
approved that has been successful in providing funding for proposals that are 
identified during any financial year and provide the Council will a positive 
financial return.  The payback for such initiatives is typically 3 years but can 
vary depending on the individual proposal.   

Financial Services Service Review

The Council has embarked on a corporate wide service review programme as 
an integral part of its transformation programme.  These reviews are 
designed to assess and analyse a number of elements of the respective 
service specifically value for money, cost analysis, customer focus, 
performance, strategic fit and behaviours that support the Corporate Strategy.  
The proposal in this review is to temporarily engage an external partner to 
support and facilitate the review and to provide some peer challenge.  An 
external partner has been identified who has a wealth of experience in this 

173



regard and has worked with many authorities in order to modernise financial 
services to meet their organisational needs.  This review will lead to a 
delivery improvement plan that will be implemented following the conclusion 
of the review.  The review will also include the reduction of operational 
service costs via a combination of income generation (providing services to 
third parties) and cost reductions.  These will be delivered due to the 
automation and streamlining of processes.  Therefore, the review will ensure 
that the invest to save outlay is recouped within a one year period.  

Internet of Things Initiative

The proposal is to work in partnership with an external partner to setup a pilot 
project for the Internet of Things (IoT). The initial area is to develop is 
intelligent street lighting across the district. The proposal is to combine a LED 
lamp with Internet of Things sensors. This will create saving on the power 
with LED and also allow proactive monitoring of use, condition and other 
factors such as footfall monitoring and air quality.  The proposal will also see 
the implementation of an IoT network which can then be utilised for future 
initiatives. However, at this stage it is not possible to quantify the savings that 
will be achieved but this will be identified as the work progresses.

Advertising and Sponsorship Initiative

South Kesteven District Council has worked with Publitas Consulting to 
complete an audit of advertising income received by the Council and the 
potential extent of opportunity within the local market. The audit report 
highlights an opportunity to make better use of Council assets to generate 
additional advertising revenue.

The audit highlights a range of income opportunities that could be available to 
the Council, depending on how the market responds and the sites that are 
included in the tender documentation. The projected maximum payback 
period for the invest to save reserve is 15 months based on the minimal 
income projections.

The proposal sees the Council utilise external expertise to support the 
procurement of specialist suppliers of advertising and sponsorship, 
implementation, management and sales. This will ensure revenue 
maximisation and the minimisation of risk to the Council. Procurement will be 
completed through an OJEU Tender, with competitive dialogue or negotiated 
procedure.

The timeline for the invest to save project is set out in the table below.

174



Milestone Target Period from Approval 
Date (months)

1. Agreeing Advertising 
Locations

1 month

2. Procurement Process / 
Tendering

3.

6 – 8 months

4. Contract Awarded 2 weeks
5. Supplier submits planning 

permissions etc. If approved, 
supplier builds new advert 
sites

5 months

6. Adverts start to run 2020 onwards
7. Council starts to receive 

revenue
2020 onwards

Publitas Consulting will assist with the end-to-end throughout the entire 
procurement up to award of contracts, ensuring all activity has a focus on 
maximising the revenue values achieved. It should be highlighted that the 
choice of procurement process is important. Publitas will bring to the table 
extensive experience from assisting other councils using many procurement 
routes.

Publitas will advise during the procurement process from an advertising 
market perspective, helping the council bespoke the entire process and 
documentation so as to maximise the potential revenue values. They will help 
the Council to decide on a commercial basis to determine which of the 
possible new advertising inventory items and locations are advantageous to 
tender.

A full detailed GIS analysis will be undertaken of identified areas / locations 
for potential advertising, in order to produce a detailed location and traffic-
flow brief, which will form part of the ITT for bidders. Publitas will assist the 
Council to bespoke a complete suite of tender documentation with wording 
which will manage supplier expectations throughout the process to maximise 
their revenue offers.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

175



Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

Date of Decision: 12 April 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 15 April 2019 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

25 April 2019 

176



1

NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet 
Member for Finance

REPORT AUTHOR: Richard Wyles – Assistant Director

REPORT NO. CFM491

DATE: 8 April 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Utilisation of the Invest To Save Reserve

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

N/A

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

N/a

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: N/a

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for use £10,650 of the invest to save 
reserve 

 

177

Appendix 9

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


2

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

The Cabinet Member is asked to approve one-off funding of £10,650 from the Invest 
to Save reserve to fund the procurement of an on-line forms library package.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

At the meeting on 31 January 2019, Council approved that utilisation of the invest to 
save reserve be delegated to the Cabinet member for Finance (in consultation with the 
s151 officer) in order to fund projects and initiatives that will deliver ongoing sustainable 
savings following a short term injection of funding.  The invest to save reserve is an 
established reserve that Council has approved that has been successful in providing 
funding for proposals that are identified during any financial year and provide the 
Council will a positive financial return.  The payback for such initiatives is typically 3 
years but can vary depending on the individual proposal.   

The proposal is for the Council to procure and implement an on-line forms library 
package to provide electronic forms for customers utilising the Council corporate 
website. The data will then be input into the backend system using process automation 
software. Currently the Council is using an adapted mobile system for Housing Benefit 
claims which costs £10,000 pa. The replacement form package would negate the need 
to for this to continue and therefore would be terminated at the renewal period.  
Integration between the form and the back end software requires the use of process 
automation technology. This is currently being implemented in partnership with EY so 
has not yet been used in a live environment.
Based on the assumed level of channel shift the payback is expected within a 2 year 
period.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

These are included in the report.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

The decision to utilise the Invest to Save Reserve is delegated to the Cabinet 
Member for Finance in accordance with the Council decision made on 31 January 
2019.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Richard Wyles – Assistant Director, Resources
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: 01476 406210 

178

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk


3

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision made on 26 April 2019 date effective will be 7 May 2019. 

179



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for a one-off funding of £10,650 from the 
Invest to Save reserve to fund the procurement of an on-line forms 
library package.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for use £10,650 of the invest to save reserve to fund the 
procurement of an on-line forms library package.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

At the meeting on 31 January 2019, Council approved that utilisation of the 
invest to save reserve be delegated to the Cabinet member for Finance (in 
consultation with the s151 officer) in order to fund projects and initiatives that 
will deliver ongoing sustainable savings following a short term injection of 
funding.  The invest to save reserve is an established reserve that Council 
has approved that has been successful in providing funding for proposals that 
are identified during any financial year and provide the Council with a positive 
financial return.  The payback for such initiatives is typically 3 years but can 
vary depending on the individual proposal.   

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The proposal is for the Council to procure and implement an on-line forms 
library package to provide electronic forms for customers utilising the Council 
corporate website. The data will then be input into the backend system using 
process automation software. Currently the Council is using an adapted 
mobile system for Housing Benefit claims which costs £10,000 pa. The 
replacement form package would negate the need to for this to continue and 
therefore would be terminated at the renewal period.  Integration between the 
form and the back end software requires the use of process automation 
technology. This is currently being implemented in partnership with EY so has 
not yet been used in a live environment.

Based on the assumed level of channel shift the payback is expected within a 
2 year period.

181



Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

Date of Decision: 29 April 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 30 April 2019 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

9 May 2019 

182



Document is Restricted

183

Appendix 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for the enforced sale of an empty property 
as detailed within exempt report ENV713.

(1) Details of Decision

The enforced sale of a property as detailed in report number ENV713.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

As outlined within exempt report ENV713.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

As outlined with exempt report ENV713.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: 
Cabinet Member for Housing

Date of Decision: 26 April 2019

187



Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 29 April 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

8 May 2019

188



Document is Restricted

189

Appendix 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

193

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted to purchase a property as per exempt 
report RIM0416.

(1) Details of Decision

The purchase of a property as set out in exempt report RIM416.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

As contained within exempt report RIM0416.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

As contained in exempt report RIM0416.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Nick Neilson 
Cabinet Member for Housing

Date of Decision: 29 April 2019

195



Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 30 April 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

9 May 2019

196


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Street Lighting (Key Decision)
	5 Proposed Statement of Common Ground - Stamford North (Key Decision)
	Draft Land North of Stamford MoC with comments addressed 050918 v4

	6 Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny Committees
	OSC_App1

	8 Cabinet Forward Plan
	1 June 2019 to 31 May 2020

	9 Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
	ENV712
	ENV712 appendix 1
	NN.JS ENV712 05.03.19
	NKD Carlby NP v2 HG
	HG SEG063 19.03.19
	NKD Thurlby NP v2 HG
	HG SEG064 19.03.19
	ENV714 stray dog collection contract (002)
	PM ENV714 25.03.19
	PD0077 - NKD Former Stamford Museum 210119
	KC PD0077 27.03.19
	ENV715 extend discretionary DFG policy
	appendix 1
	NN ENV715 28.03.19
	CFM491Write offs over 25000
	AS CFM491 04.04.19
	CFM490NKDinvest to save
	AS CFM490 12.04.19
	CFM491NKDinvest to save
	AS CFM491 29.04.19
	ENV713 enforced sale
	NN ENV713 26.04.19
	RIM 0416 Purchase of a property
	RIM416 appendix
	NN RIM0416 29.04.19


